# World Journal of *Cardiology*

World J Cardiol 2024 February 26; 16(2): 49-97





Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc

W J C World Journ Cardiology

# World Journal of

#### Contents

Monthly Volume 16 Number 2 February 26, 2024

#### **EDITORIAL**

49 Risk of permanent pacemaker implantation following transcatheter aortic valve replacement: Which factors are most relevant?

Batta A, Hatwal J

54 Current knowledge for the risk factors of early permanent pacemaker implantation following transcatheter aortic valve replacement and what is next for the primary prevention?

Lin GM, Huang WC, Han CL

- Inflammation as a cause of acute myocardial infarction in patients with myeloproliferative neoplasm 58 Tirandi A, Schiavetta E, Maioli E, Montecucco F, Liberale L
- 64 Facing ethical concerns in the age of precise gene therapy: Outlook on inherited arrhythmias Carbone F, Montecucco F
- 67 Cardiac rehabilitation after cardiac surgery: An important underutilized treatment strategy Kourek C, Dimopoulos S

#### **MINIREVIEWS**

73 Seeing beneath the surface: Harnessing point-of-care ultrasound for internal jugular vein evaluation Chayapinun V, Koratala A, Assavapokee T

#### **ORIGINAL ARTICLE**

#### **Retrospective Cohort Study**

80 Development and validation of a nomogram model for predicting the risk of pre-hospital delay in patients with acute myocardial infarction

Cao JY, Zhang LX, Zhou XJ

#### **CASE REPORT**

92 Spontaneous coronary artery rupture after lung cancer surgery: A case report and review of literature Ruan YD. Han JW



#### Contents

Monthly Volume 16 Number 2 February 26, 2024

#### **ABOUT COVER**

Peer Reviewer of World Journal of Cardiology, Gong Su, MD, PhD, Chief Physician, Associate Professor, Deputy Director of Cardiac Department, Aerospace Center Hospital, Peking University, No. 15 Yuquan Road, Haidian District, Beijing 100049, China. gong.su@139.com

#### **AIMS AND SCOPE**

The primary aim of World Journal of Cardiology (WJC, World J Cardiol) is to provide scholars and readers from various fields of cardiology with a platform to publish high-quality basic and clinical research articles and communicate their research findings online.

WIC mainly publishes articles reporting research results and findings obtained in the field of cardiology and covering a wide range of topics including acute coronary syndromes, aneurysm, angina, arrhythmias, atherosclerosis, atrial fibrillation, cardiomyopathy, congenital heart disease, coronary artery disease, heart failure, hypertension, imaging, infection, myocardial infarction, pathology, peripheral vessels, public health, Raynaud's syndrome, stroke, thrombosis, and valvular disease.

#### **INDEXING/ABSTRACTING**

The WJC is now abstracted and indexed in Emerging Sources Citation Index (Web of Science), PubMed, PubMed Central, Scopus, Reference Citation Analysis, China Science and Technology Journal Database, and Superstar Journals Database. The 2023 Edition of Journal Citation Reports® cites the 2022 impact factor (IF) for WJC as 1.9; IF without journal self cites: 1.8; 5-year IF: 2.3; Journal Citation Indicator: 0.33. The WJC's CiteScore for 2022 is 1.9 and Scopus CiteScore rank 2022: Cardiology and cardiovascular medicine is 226/354.

#### **RESPONSIBLE EDITORS FOR THIS ISSUE**

Production Editor: Si Zhao; Production Department Director: Xiang Li; Editorial Office Director: Yun-Xiaojiao Wu.

NAME OF JOURNAL World Journal of Cardiology	INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/204
ISSN	GUIDELINES FOR ETHICS DOCUMENTS
ISSN 1949-8462 (online)	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/287
LAUNCH DATE	GUIDELINES FOR NON-NATIVE SPEAKERS OF ENGLISH
December 31, 2009	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/240
FREQUENCY	PUBLICATION ETHICS
Monthly	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/288
EDITORS-IN-CHIEF	PUBLICATION MISCONDUCT
Ramdas G Pai, Dimitrios Tousoulis, Marco Matteo Ciccone, Pal Pacher	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/208
EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS	ARTICLE PROCESSING CHARGE
https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/editorialboard.htm	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/gerinfo/242
PUBLICATION DATE	STEPS FOR SUBMITTING MANUSCRIPTS
February 26, 2024	https://www.wjgnet.com/bpg/GerInfo/239
COPYRIGHT	ONLINE SUBMISSION
© 2024 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc	https://www.f6publishing.com

© 2024 Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved. 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA E-mail: office@baishideng.com https://www.wjgnet.com



WJC

## World Journal of Cardiology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2024 February 26; 16(2): 49-53

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v16.i2.49

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

EDITORIAL

### Risk of permanent pacemaker implantation following transcatheter aortic valve replacement: Which factors are most relevant?

Akash Batta, Juniali Hatwal

Specialty type: Cardiac and cardiovascular systems

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Polewczyk A, Poland

Received: October 28, 2023 Peer-review started: October 28, 2023 First decision: December 29, 2023 Revised: December 30, 2023 Accepted: January 11, 2024 Article in press: January 11, 2024 Published online: February 26, 2024



Akash Batta, Department of Cardiology, Dayanand Medical College and Hospital, Ludhiana 141001, Punjab, India

Juniali Hatwal, Department of Internal Medicine, Post Graduate Institute of Medical Education & Research, Chandigarh 160012, India

Corresponding author: Akash Batta, Doctor, FACC, MBBS, MD, Assistant Professor, Department of Cardiology, Dayanand Medical College and Hospital, Tagore Nagar, Civil Lines, Ludhiana 141001, Punjab, India. akashbatta02@gmail.com

#### Abstract

Transcatheter aortic valve replacement (TAVR) has emerged as a formidable treatment option for severe symptomatic aortic stenosis ahead of surgical aortic valve replacement. The encouraging results from large randomized controlled trials has resulted in an exponential rise in the use of TAVR even in the low-risk patients. However, this is not without challenges. Need for permanent pacemaker (PPM) post-TAVR remains the most frequent and clinically relevant challenge. Naturally, identifying risk factors which predispose an individual to develop high grade conduction block post-TAVR is important. Various demographic factors, electrocardiographic features, anatomic factors and procedural characteristics have all been linked to the development of advanced conduction block and need for PPM following TAVR. Amongst these electrophysiological variables, most notably a prolonged QRS > 120 ms regardless of the type of conduction block seems to be one of the strongest predictors on logistic regression models. The index study by Nwaedozie et al highlights that patients requiring PPM post-TAVR had higher odds of having a baseline QRS > 120 ms and were more likely to be having diabetes mellitus that those who did not require PPM.

Key Words: Transcatheter aortic valve replacement; Permanent pacemaker; Diabetes mellitus; QRS duration; Electrophysiological variables

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



**Core Tip:** Transcatheter aortic valve replacement (TAVR) has emerged as a formidable treatment option for severe symptomatic aortic stenosis ahead of surgical aortic valve replacement. Despite the progress in technology, the improved valve-design and delivery systems, and the improvement in clinical skill and deployment techniques, permanent pacemaker (PPM) implantation remains a major cause of concern post-TAVR. Naturally, identifying risk factors which predispose an individual to develop high grade conduction block post-TAVR is relevant. In the index study by Nwaedozie et al, a baseline QRS > 120 ms and the presence of diabetes mellitus were strongest predictors of PPM need post-TAVR.

Citation: Batta A, Hatwal J. Risk of permanent pacemaker implantation following transcatheter aortic valve replacement: Which factors are most relevant? World J Cardiol 2024; 16(2): 49-53 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v16/i2/49.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v16.i2.49

#### INTRODUCTION

Over the last 2 decades, transcatheter aortic valve replacement (TAVR) has emerged as a formidable treatment option for severe symptomatic aortic stenosis ahead of surgical aortic valve replacement (SAVR). Encouraging results from large randomized controlled trials (RCTs) has resulted in expansion of its use even in the younger population with low surgical risk[1,2]. This ever-increasing volume of TAVR is expected to be coupled with complications which will have significant long-term impact. Amongst them, conduction disturbances leading to permanent pacemaker (PPM) implantation is one of the most relevant challenge. The rate of PPM implantation is around 5%-33% of all patients undergoing TAVR[3-5]. This is thought to result from a mechanical injury, ischemia, hemorrhage or associated inflammation in the conduction system which passes posterior-inferiorly to the non-coronary cusp of the aortic valve[6]. Despite the progress in technology leading to improved valve-designs and delivery systems, and improvement in clinical skill and deployment techniques, PPM implantation remains a major cause of concern post-TAVR[6]. Long-term right ventricular pacing has adverse impact on cardiac hemodynamics, chamber dimensions and ventricular functions all of which contribute to increased morbidity and mortality in the long run<sup>[7]</sup>. Although long-term impact of PPM after TAVR has been sparingly studied, emerging data points to the worse clinical outcomes in this population following PPM[8]. This association is most relevant today younger patients are who are expected to live longer are increasingly undergoing TAVR and will be most vulnerable to long-term impact of PPM. Traditionally, PPM implantation rate following SAVR is around 2-7%, which in general is lower than PPM need after TAVR. Hence, choosing between SAVR and TAVR in low-risk younger patients should take into account the risk of PPM implantation and its long-term impact[9,10]. Naturally, knowledge and awareness of preprocedural characteristics that predispose an individual to develop high-grade conduction disturbances following TAVR remains critical.

#### TRADITIONAL AND EMERGING PREDICTORS OF PPM FOLLOWING TAVR

As we enter the 3<sup>rd</sup> decade since the first reported use of TAVR in humans in 2002, an ever-increasing pool of data is available to clinicians and researchers to draw meaningful conclusions and ultimately improve patient outcomes. Large scale RCTs and the subsequent meta-analysis have shed light on the risk factors for PPM after TAVR. Various demographic factors, electrocardiographic features, anatomic factors and procedural characteristics have all been linked to the development of advanced conduction blocks and need for PPM following TAVR[5,11,12]. Evidence from various high-quality studies on the predictors of PPM need following TAVR has been depicted in Figure 1. Overall, the risk factors which appear to be the most closely linked to the risk of PPM following TAVR are diabetes mellitus (DM), presence of baseline RBBB or left anterior fascicular block, short membranous septum length, high volume calcium just below the non-coronary and the right coronary cusps, increased depth of valve implantation, utilization of larger valves with resultant large valve index[(valve size/LVOT diameter) × 100 > 128)] and the use of self-expanding valve in particular the Medtronic CoreValve systems (Medtronic, Inc.; Minneapolis, MN)[5,11-15].

The most recent evidence on the predictors of PPM following TAVR comes from the study by Nwaedozie et al[16] in which they have explored various risk factors (particularly focusing on electrophysiological variables) for PPM in patients undergoing TAVR at their centre over the last decade. In this retrospective study they conclude that the presence of DM and prolonged baseline QRS > 120 ms regardless of the type of conduction block were the strongest predictors on logistic regression model for need for PPM post-TAVR. While the results of the study are not entirely novel, the study does add to the existing pool of literature. They highlight that baseline QRS prolongation (> 120 ms) even without underlying LBBB or RBBB is an independent and a strong predictor for need for PPM. Even those with QRS 100-120 ms were found to have higher odds of needing PPM following TAVR in their study than those with a QRS < 100 ms. This is unlike previous data which suggested that it was RBBB more than other conduction disturbances that predicted PPM need. A prolonged QRS represents conduction delays from the atrioventricular node to the ventricular purkinje system. Even in general population, a prolonged QRS without typical RBBB or LBBB is associated with worse long-term outcomes and increased likelihood of sudden cardiac death[17]. It often is present as a bystander in ischemic heart disease and is believed to be a precursor to both bradyarrhythmia and tachyarrhythmia in future. Whether TAVR aggravates this ischemia process or





Figure 1 Various risk factors for development of high grade conduction block and need for permanent pacemaker following transcatheter aortic valve replacement. RBBB: Right bundle branch block; NCC: Non coronary cusp. <sup>1</sup>Medtronic CoreValve systems (Medtronic, Inc.; Minneapolis, MN, United States)

the surrounding inflammation impairs the already compromised conduction is still a matter of debate. The other major finding of the study was higher odds of DM amongst patients needing PPM. This is not surprising since DM impairs microcirculation throughout the cardiovascular system including the blood supply of the conduction tissue. Further a large recent nationwide Danish study highlighted the fact that DM patients have a higher likelihood of developing advanced conduction disease even in general population[18]. Also in the recent meta-analysis by Mahajan et al[5], DM was the only demographic variable on multivariable regression analysis which was independently linked to PPM following TAVR.

Another relevant area that the authors have touched upon is the clinical impact of PPM post TAVR. Unlike in general population, where the harmful effects of PPM are well established, the impact of PPM in TAVR patients is less studied and conflicting[19-22]. This study by Nwaedozie et al[16] is one of the few which highlights the negative impact of PPM post TAVR. They found higher odds of heart failure hospitalizations and non-fatal myocardial infarction amongst the PPM cohort at 1 year. However, the overall survival was similar in the 2 groups. Perhaps a longer follow-up would have further clarified the impact of PPM on mortality in these patients.

While the strength of the study is well apparent, one must take the results with a pinch of salt. Being a single-centre study with a retrospective study design, unaccounted biases cannot be ruled out. Hence, one cannot accept these results on their face value. Lack of validation arm is yet another limitation. Thus, generalizability of the study must be established in future studies before incorporating the evidence from the index study in our clinical practice.

#### CONCLUSION

The encouraging results from large RCTs has resulted in an exponential rise in the use of TAVR even in younger individuals at low-risk for surgery. Need for PPM post-TAVR remains the most frequent and clinically relevant challenge. Various risk factors have been identified and linked to PPM need following TAVR. As newer evidence emerges, our understanding of the pathophysiology improves and novel predictors are identified. Amongst them none seems to be more relevant that prolonged baseline QRS irrespective of the type of conduction block. Perhaps generating a tool or risk scoring system incorporating the current evidence seems to be the most promising approach for the future. The potential of artificial intelligence should be explored to identify and validate the emerging predictors.

#### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Batta A and Hatwal J contributed equally to this work.



Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: India

ORCID number: Akash Batta 0000-0002-7606-5826; Juniali Hatwal 0000-0001-5433-0433.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: A P-Editor: Zhao S

#### REFERENCES

- Popma JJ, Deeb GM, Yakubov SJ, Mumtaz M, Gada H, O'Hair D, Bajwa T, Heiser JC, Merhi W, Kleiman NS, Askew J, Sorajja P, Rovin J, 1 Chetcuti SJ, Adams DH, Teirstein PS, Zorn GL 3rd, Forrest JK, Tchétché D, Resar J, Walton A, Piazza N, Ramlawi B, Robinson N, Petrossian G, Gleason TG, Oh JK, Boulware MJ, Qiao H, Mugglin AS, Reardon MJ; Evolut Low Risk Trial Investigators. Transcatheter Aortic-Valve Replacement with a Self-Expanding Valve in Low-Risk Patients. N Engl J Med 2019; 380: 1706-1715 [PMID: 30883053 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1816885]
- Mack MJ, Leon MB, Thourani VH, Makkar R, Kodali SK, Russo M, Kapadia SR, Malaisrie SC, Cohen DJ, Pibarot P, Leipsic J, Hahn RT, 2 Blanke P, Williams MR, McCabe JM, Brown DL, Babaliaros V, Goldman S, Szeto WY, Genereux P, Pershad A, Pocock SJ, Alu MC, Webb JG, Smith CR; PARTNER 3 Investigators. Transcatheter Aortic-Valve Replacement with a Balloon-Expandable Valve in Low-Risk Patients. N Engl J Med 2019; 380: 1695-1705 [PMID: 30883058 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1814052]
- Abu Rmilah AA, Al-Zu'bi H, Haq IU, Yagmour AH, Jaber SA, Alkurashi AK, Qaisi I, Kowlgi GN, Cha YM, Mulpuru S, DeSimone CV, 3 Deshmukh AJ. Predicting permanent pacemaker implantation following transcatheter aortic valve replacement: A contemporary meta-analysis of 981,168 patients. Heart Rhythm O2 2022; 3: 385-392 [PMID: 36097458 DOI: 10.1016/j.hroo.2022.05.001]
- Laynez A, Ben-Dor I, Barbash IM, Hauville C, Sardi G, Maluenda G, Xue Z, Satler LF, Pichard AD, Lindsay J, Waksman R. Frequency of 4 conduction disturbances after Edwards SAPIEN percutaneous valve implantation. Am J Cardiol 2012; 110: 1164-1168 [PMID: 22770935 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2012.05.057
- Mahajan S, Gupta R, Malik AH, Mahajan P, Aedma SK, Aronow WS, Mehta SS, Lakkireddy DR. Predictors of permanent pacemaker 5 insertion after TAVR: A systematic review and updated meta-analysis. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2021; 32: 1411-1420 [PMID: 33682218 DOI: 10.1111/jce.14986]
- Huang HD, Mansour M. Pacemaker Implantation After Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement: A Necessary Evil Perhaps But Are We 6 Making Progress? J Am Heart Assoc 2020; 9: e016700 [PMID: 32362173 DOI: 10.1161/JAHA.120.016700]
- Naqvi TZ, Chao CJ. Adverse effects of right ventricular pacing on cardiac function: prevalence, prevention and treatment with physiologic 7 pacing. Trends Cardiovasc Med 2023; 33: 109-122 [PMID: 34742888 DOI: 10.1016/j.tcm.2021.10.013]
- Lauten P, Costello-Boerrigter LC, Goebel B, Gonzalez-Lopez D, Schreiber M, Kuntze T, Al Jassem M, Lapp H. Transcatheter Aortic Valve 8 Implantation: Addressing the Subsequent Risk of Permanent Pacemaker Implantation. J Cardiovasc Dev Dis 2023; 10 [PMID: 37367395 DOI: 10.3390/jcdd10060230]
- Robich MP, Schiltz NK, Johnston DR, Mick S, Krishnaswamy A, Iglesias RA, Hang D, Roselli EE, Soltesz EG. Risk Factors and Outcomes of 9 Patients Requiring a Permanent Pacemaker After Aortic Valve Replacement in the United States. J Card Surg 2016; 31: 476-485 [PMID: 27335256 DOI: 10.1111/jocs.12769]
- 10 Young Lee M, Chilakamarri Yeshwant S, Chava S, Lawrence Lustgarten D. Mechanisms of Heart Block after Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement - Cardiac Anatomy, Clinical Predictors and Mechanical Factors that Contribute to Permanent Pacemaker Implantation. Arrhythm Electrophysiol Rev 2015; 4: 81-85 [PMID: 26835105 DOI: 10.15420/aer.2015.04.02.81]
- 11 Siontis GC, Jüni P, Pilgrim T, Stortecky S, Büllesfeld L, Meier B, Wenaweser P, Windecker S. Predictors of permanent pacemaker implantation in patients with severe aortic stenosis undergoing TAVR: a meta-analysis. J Am Coll Cardiol 2014; 64: 129-140 [PMID: 25011716 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2014.04.033]
- 12 Sá MP, Van den Eynde J, Jacquemyn X, Erten O, Rodriguez R, Goldman S, Coady PM, Gnall E, Gray WA, Jarrett H, Abramson SV, Clavel MA, Pibarot P, Ramlawi B. Computed tomography-derived membranous septum length as predictor of conduction abnormalities and permanent pacemaker implantation after TAVI: A meta-analysis of observational studies. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2023; 101: 1203-1213 [PMID: 37070459 DOI: 10.1002/ccd.30666]
- Rudolph T, Droppa M, Baan J, Nielsen NE, Baranowski J, Hachaturyan V, Kurucova J, Hack L, Bramlage P, Geisler T. Modifiable risk 13 factors for permanent pacemaker after transcatheter aortic valve implantation: CONDUCT registry. Open Heart 2023; 10 [PMID: 36750275 DOI: 10.1136/openhrt-2022-002191]
- 14 Pavlicek V, Mahfoud F, Bubel K, Fries P, Ewen S, Böhm M, Scheller B, Ukena C. Prediction of conduction disturbances in patients undergoing transcatheter aortic valve replacement. Clin Res Cardiol 2023; 112: 677-690 [PMID: 36680617 DOI: 10.1007/s00392-023-02160-0]
- Kawsara A, Sulaiman S, Alqahtani F, Eleid MF, Deshmukh AJ, Cha YM, Rihal CS, Alkhouli M. Temporal Trends in the Incidence and 15 Outcomes of Pacemaker Implantation After Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement in the United States (2012-2017). J Am Heart Assoc 2020; 9: e016685 [PMID: 32862774 DOI: 10.1161/JAHA.120.016685]
- 16 Nwaedozie S, Zhang H, Najjar Mojarrab J, Sharma P, Yeung P, Umukoro P, Soodi D, Gabor R, Anderson K, Garcia-Montilla R. Novel predictors of permanent pacemaker implantation following transcatheter aortic valve replacement. World J Cardiol 2023; 15: 582-598 [PMID:



38058399 DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i11.582]

- Aro AL, Anttonen O, Tikkanen JT, Junttila MJ, Kerola T, Rissanen HA, Reunanen A, Huikuri HV. Intraventricular conduction delay in a 17 standard 12-lead electrocardiogram as a predictor of mortality in the general population. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2011; 4: 704-710 [PMID: 21841194 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCEP.111.963561]
- Haxha S, Halili A, Malmborg M, Pedersen-Bjergaard U, Philbert BT, Lindhardt TB, Hoejberg S, Schjerning AM, Ruwald MH, Gislason GH, 18 Torp-Pedersen C, Bang CN. Type 2 diabetes mellitus and higher rate of complete atrioventricular block: a Danish Nationwide Registry. Eur Heart J 2023; 44: 752-761 [PMID: 36433808 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehac662]
- Sammour Y, Krishnaswamy A, Kumar A, Puri R, Tarakji KG, Bazarbashi N, Harb S, Griffin B, Svensson L, Wazni O, Kapadia SR. 19 Incidence, Predictors, and Implications of Permanent Pacemaker Requirement After Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2021; 14: 115-134 [PMID: 33478630 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcin.2020.09.063]
- Ullah W, Zahid S, Zaidi SR, Sarvepalli D, Haq S, Roomi S, Mukhtar M, Khan MA, Gowda SN, Ruggiero N, Vishnevsky A, Fischman DL. 20 Predictors of Permanent Pacemaker Implantation in Patients Undergoing Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement - A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Am Heart Assoc 2021; 10: e020906 [PMID: 34259045 DOI: 10.1161/JAHA.121.020906]
- Nazif TM, Dizon JM, Hahn RT, Xu K, Babaliaros V, Douglas PS, El-Chami MF, Herrmann HC, Mack M, Makkar RR, Miller DC, Pichard A, 21 Tuzcu EM, Szeto WY, Webb JG, Moses JW, Smith CR, Williams MR, Leon MB, Kodali SK; PARTNER Publications Office. Predictors and clinical outcomes of permanent pacemaker implantation after transcatheter aortic valve replacement: the PARTNER (Placement of AoRtic TraNscathetER Valves) trial and registry. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2015; 8: 60-69 [PMID: 25616819 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcin.2014.07.022]
- 22 Urena M, Webb JG, Tamburino C, Muñoz-García AJ, Cheema A, Dager AE, Serra V, Amat-Santos IJ, Barbanti M, Immè S, Briales JH, Benitez LM, Al Lawati H, Cucalon AM, García Del Blanco B, López J, Dumont E, Delarochellière R, Ribeiro HB, Nombela-Franco L, Philippon F, Rodés-Cabau J. Permanent pacemaker implantation after transcatheter aortic valve implantation: impact on late clinical outcomes and left ventricular function. Circulation 2014; 129: 1233-1243 [PMID: 24370552 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.005479]



WJC

# World Journal of *Cardiology*

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v16.i2.54

World J Cardiol 2024 February 26; 16(2): 54-57

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

EDITORIAL

### Current knowledge for the risk factors of early permanent pacemaker implantation following transcatheter aortic valve replacement and what is next for the primary prevention?

#### Gen-Min Lin, Wei-Chun Huang, Chih-Lu Han

	<b>Specialty type:</b> Cardiac and cardiovascular systems	<b>Gen-Min Lin</b> , Department of Medicine, Hualien Armed Forces General Hospital, Hualien 970, Taiwan			
	<b>Provenance and peer review:</b> Invited article; Externally peer	Wei-Chun Huang, Cardiovascular Center, Kaohsiung Veterans General Hospital, Kaohsiung 81346, Taiwan			
reviewed.		Chih-Lu Han, Department of Medicine, Taipei Veterans General Hospital, Taipei 112, Taiwan			
	Peer-review model: Single blind	Corresponding author: Gen-Min Lin, FACC, FAHA, FESC, MD, PhD, Academic Editor,			
	Peer-review report's scientific quality classification	Academic Fellow, Chief Physician, Department of Medicine, Hualien Armed Forces General Hospital, No. 100 Jinfeng Street, Hualien 970, Taiwan. farmer507@yahoo.com.tw			
	Grade A (Excellent): A				
	Grade B (Very good): 0	Abstract			
Grade C (Good): C, C, C		Absilder			
	Grade D (Fair): 0	In this editorial, we comprehensively summarized the preoperative risk factors of			
	Grade E (Poor): 0	early permanent pacemaker implantation after transcatheter aortic valve repla-			

**P-Reviewer:** Barik R, India; Celikyurt U, Turkey; Freund O, Israel

Received: November 1, 2023 Peer-review started: November 1, 2023 First decision: December 19, 2023 Revised: December 21, 2023 Accepted: January 19, 2024 Article in press: January 19, 2024 Published online: February 26, 2024



In this editorial, we comprehensively summarized the preoperative risk factors of early permanent pacemaker implantation after transcatheter aortic valve replacement (TAVR) among patients with severe aortic stenosis from several renowned clinical studies and focused on the primary prevention of managing the modifiable factors, *e.g.*, paroxysmal atrial fibrillation before the TAVR.

**Key Words:** Permanent pacemaker implantation; Transcatheter aortic valve replacement; Interventricular conduction delay; Diabetes; Supraventricular arrhythmia

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** This is an invited editorial for the coming paper "novel predictors of permanent pacemaker implantation following transcatheter aortic valve replacement".

**Citation:** Lin GM, Huang WC, Han CL. Current knowledge for the risk factors of early permanent pacemaker implantation following transcatheter aortic valve replacement and what is next for the primary prevention? *World J Cardiol* 2024; 16(2): 54-57 **URL:** https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v16/i2/54.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v16.i2.54

Raishideng® WJC https://www.wjgnet.com

#### INTRODUCTION

In this issue of the *World Journal of Cardiology*, Nwaedozie *et al*[1] explored clinical outcomes associated with early permanent pacemaker (PPM) implantation following transcatheter aortic valve replacement (TAVR) in high-risk patients with aortic stenosis. At the end of 1 year follow-up, as compared to those without PPM implantation, those with PPM implantation had a higher risk of heart failure (HF) hospitalization and nonfatal myocardial infarction (MI) [odds ratios (ORs): 2.2 and 3.9, respectively]. In contrast, in the study conducted by Fadahunsi *et al*[2], early PPM implantation after TAVR was associated with a greater risk of a composite of all-cause mortality or HF admission [hazard ratio (HR): 1.33], while not with HF admission alone. Despite the disparity in observational studies, the 1-year adverse outcomes associated with early PPM implantation after TAVR were unquestionable. Therefore, it is crucial to know the modifiable predictors of early PPM implantation in high-risk patients with severe AS before the procedure of TAVR, and a preprocedural preventive measure may be of great interests for future trials to be taken for reducing the possibility of PPM implantation and improving the clinical outcomes.

Previous studies have shown several risk predictors of early PPM implantation after TAVR (Table 1). In this state of the art study, three novel pre-procedural predictors were added including nonspecific interventricular conduction delay (IVCD), type 2 diabetes and supraventricular arrhythmia[1] (ORs: 2.18, 2.16, and 1.82, respectively). It has been acknowledged that right bundle branch block (RBBB) is an independent electrocardiographic predictor of post-TAVR PPM implantation (ORs: 1.36-8.61)[3-5]. In this study[1], the association between RBBB and post-TAVR PPM implantation was borderline (OR: 2.15, P = 0.081), while the association between IVCD (QRS duration  $\ge 120$  ms) and post-TAVR PPM implantation was significant (OR: 2.18, P = 0.045). In addition, this study also demonstrated a dose-response association for each 20 ms increase in the pre-procedural QRS duration > 100 ms (ORs: 2.44, 3.25, and 6.98 for the QRS duration: 101-120 ms, 121-140 ms, and 141-160 ms, respectively). To the best of our knowledge, the development of RBBB and IVCD may be due to conduction system calcification and pressure overload in the left ventricle in severe AS[5]. The prevalence of RBBB and IVCD and the QRS duration were observed higher with increasing AS severity, and the presence of RBBB and wider QRS duration (per each 10 ms increase) was associated with greater risk of all-cause mortality (HRs: 1.59 and 1.06, respectively) in patients with AS[6]. In a large study among consecutive patients who completed 24-h Holter electrocardiography (ECG) for variety of indications[7], RBBB was an independent predictor for arrhythmia requiring further treatment which was in line with the present study findings. Obviously, the nature course in those with AS having abnormal ECG features, i.e., RBBB and IVCD is consistently with poor prognosis across different groups regardless of receiving TAVR. Moreover, a prior study showed that if the QRS duration is less than 120 ms throughout the first day after TAVR, the occurrence of late atrioventricular conduction abnormalities is relatively low[8].

Diabetes mellitus has been regarded as a risk factor of cardiovascular mortality, mainly due to HF (HR: 2.61) in patients with severe AS, while not in those with mild or moderate AS[9]. The relative risk was close to the finding in this study (OR: 2.16). In addition, type 2 diabetes and insulin use were found with an association with late overall mortality (5-10 years) in patients with AS receiving surgical aortic valve replacement (HRs: 1.39 and 1.76, respectively)[10]. Furthermore, those with type 2 diabetes has been found with a 1.56-fold higher risk of PPM implantation as compared to those free of type 2 diabetes[11], and those with diabetes after PPM implantation had a greater risk of cardiovascular events[12]. Based on current evidence, the finding for diabetes mellitus as a risk factor of PPM implantation following TAVR for patients with severe AS in this study[1] was reasonable to explain the higher risk of incident HF hospitalization and nonfatal MI events.

Finally, this study also demonstrated an increased possibility of pre-procedural supraventricular arrhythmia for early PPM implantation following TAVR. As is known, the presence of atrioventricular node dysfunction in any grades were associated with a higher risk of atrial fibrillation (AF)[13]. It is notable that more than 95% of the pre-procedural supraventricular arrhythmia in patients with severe AS was AF. However, there were a discrepancy in case numbers between those with a history of AF (n = 156) and those with pre-procedural AF (n = 84), indicating that at least 47% of patients with paroxysmal or persistent AF in this study. In a meta-analysis of 981168 patients undergoing TAVR, the presence of AF was associated with a modestly increased risk of PPM implantation after TAVR (relative risk: 1.10)[14]. It would be of great interests for physicians to know if a conversion of paroxysmal or persistent AF to sinus rhythm prior to the procedure of TAVR may reduce the risk of PPM implantation in patients with severe AS or not, and a randomized clinical trial would be helpful to verify the effect. With the results of the PARTNER 3 trial for the long-term outcome (5 years) coming out[15], we can expect that in the following a few years, not only high-risk patients but also low-risk patients with severe AS will be eligible for TAVR. More observational studies to clarify the risk factors of early PPM implantation in low-risk patients undergoing TAVR are necessary in the future.

#### CONCLUSION

Since early PPM implantation following the TAVR is linked to poor prognosis among patients with aortic stenosis, it is crucial to clarify those potential modifiable risk factors, *e.g.*, paroxysmal AF that can be managed before the TAVR for the primary prevention of early PPM implantation.

Zaishidena® WJC https://www.wjgnet.com

Table 1 Established pre-procedural risk factors of early permanent pacemaker implantation following transcatheter aortic valve replacement

Pre-procedural risk factors	Age, yr	Male sex	Prior MI	DM	Risk ratio	Ref.
Prior conduction defect						[2-5,15]
RBBB	80-85	43%-52%	25%-45%	29%-37%	2.50-3.10	
Mobitz type 1 AV block					3.10	
Left anterior hemiblock					1.20-1.40	
Bifascicular block					2.40-2.60	
Peri-procedural AV block	Meta-analysis of	Meta-analysis of 75 cohort studies[5]			4.17	[5]
Age ≥ 80 yr	Meta-analysis of [15]	75 cohort studies[5]	; meta-analysis of 2	39 cohort studies	1.07-1.19	[ <b>2,5,15</b> ]
Self-expanding valve	Meta-analysis of	32 clinical trials[4];	meta-analysis of 239	cohort studies[15]	1.94-7.56	[2,4,5]
Aortic valve area < 0.75 cm <sup>2</sup>	84	52.0%	26.4%	36.4%	1.21	[2]
≥ Moderate operative risk	84	52.0%	26.4%	36.4%	1.85	[2]
Atrial fibrillation	Meta-analysis of [ <mark>15</mark> ]	75 cohort studies[ <mark>5</mark> ]	; meta-analysis of 2	39 cohort studies	1.05-1.10	[5,15]

AV: Atrioventricular; DM: Diabetes; MI: Myocardial infarction; RBBB: Right bundle branch block.

#### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Lin GM wrote the article; Huang WC and Han CL edited and made critical revisions related to important content of the manuscript; all authors provided approval of the final version of the article to be published.

Conflict-of-interest statement: The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: Taiwan

**ORCID** number: Gen-Min Lin 0000-0002-5509-1056; Chih-Lu Han 0000-0002-0415-9719.

S-Editor: Chen YL L-Editor: A P-Editor: Zhang YL

#### REFERENCES

- Nwaedozie S, Zhang H, Najjar Mojarrab J, Sharma P, Yeung P, Umukoro P, Soodi D, Gabor R, Anderson K, Garcia-Montilla R. Novel 1 predictors of permanent pacemaker implantation following transcatheter aortic valve replacement. World J Cardiol 2023; 15: 582-598 [PMID: 38058399 DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i11.582]
- 2 Fadahunsi OO, Olowoyeye A, Ukaigwe A, Li Z, Vora AN, Vemulapalli S, Elgin E, Donato A. Incidence, Predictors, and Outcomes of Permanent Pacemaker Implantation Following Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement: Analysis From the U.S. Society of Thoracic Surgeons/ American College of Cardiology TVT Registry. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2016; 9: 2189-2199 [PMID: 27832844 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcin.2016.07.026
- Bagur R, Rodés-Cabau J, Gurvitch R, Dumont É, Velianou JL, Manazzoni J, Toggweiler S, Cheung A, Ye J, Natarajan MK, Bainey KR, 3 DeLarochellière R, Doyle D, Pibarot P, Voisine P, Côté M, Philippon F, Webb JG. Need for permanent pacemaker as a complication of transcatheter aortic valve implantation and surgical aortic valve replacement in elderly patients with severe aortic stenosis and similar baseline electrocardiographic findings. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2012; 5: 540-551 [PMID: 22625193 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcin.2012.03.004]
- Erkapic D, De Rosa S, Kelava A, Lehmann R, Fichtlscherer S, Hohnloser SH. Risk for permanent pacemaker after transcatheter aortic valve 4 implantation: a comprehensive analysis of the literature. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2012; 23: 391-397 [PMID: 22050112 DOI: 10.1111/j.1540-8167.2011.02211.x]
- 5 Ullah W, Zahid S, Zaidi SR, Sarvepalli D, Haq S, Roomi S, Mukhtar M, Khan MA, Gowda SN, Ruggiero N, Vishnevsky A, Fischman DL. Predictors of Permanent Pacemaker Implantation in Patients Undergoing Transcatheter Aortic Valve Replacement-A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Am Heart Assoc 2021; 10: e020906 [PMID: 34259045 DOI: 10.1161/JAHA.121.020906]



- Prihadi EA, Leung M, Vollema EM, Ng ACT, Ajmone Marsan N, Bax JJ, Delgado V. Prevalence and Prognostic Relevance of Ventricular 6 Conduction Disturbances in Patients With Aortic Stenosis. Am J Cardiol 2017; 120: 2226-2232 [PMID: 29037444 DOI: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2017.08.046]
- 7 Freund O, Caspi I, Alcalay I, Brezis MR, Frydman S, Bornstein G. An old diagnostic tool for new indications: inpatient Holter ECG for conditions other than syncope or stroke. Sci Rep 2023; 13: 12510 [PMID: 37532808 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-023-39803-1]
- Roten L, Stortecky S, Scarcia F, Kadner A, Tanner H, Delacrétaz E, Meier B, Windecker S, Carrel T, Wenaweser P. Atrioventricular 8 conduction after transcatheter aortic valve implantation and surgical aortic valve replacement. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol 2012; 23: 1115-1122 [PMID: 22587564 DOI: 10.1111/j.1540-8167.2012.02354.x]
- 9 Coisne A, Montaigne D, Ninni S, Lamblin N, Lemesle G, Delsart P, Filiot A, Andrey P, Balaye P, Butruille L, Decoin R, Woitrain E, Granada JF, Staels B, Bauters C; VALVENOR investigators. Diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular mortality across the spectrum of aortic stenosis. Heart 2022; 108: 1815-1821 [PMID: 35697496 DOI: 10.1136/heartjnl-2022-320897]
- Ram E, Kogan A, Levin S, Fisman EZ, Tenenbaum A, Raanani E, Sternik L. Type 2 diabetes mellitus increases long-term mortality risk after 10 isolated surgical aortic valve replacement. Cardiovasc Diabetol 2019; 18: 31 [PMID: 30876424 DOI: 10.1186/s12933-019-0836-y]
- Rautio E, Gadler F, Gudbjörnsdottir S, Franzén S, Rydén L, Svensson AM, Mellbin LG. Patients With Type 2 Diabetes Have an Increased 11 Demand for Pacemaker Treatment: A Comparison With Age- and Sex-Matched Control Subjects From the General Population. Diabetes Care 2020; **43**: 2853-2858 [PMID: 32887704 DOI: 10.2337/dc20-0084]
- Chen HC, Liu WH, Tseng CH, Chen YL, Lee WC, Fang YN, Chong SZ, Chen MC. Diabetes Increases Risk of Cardiovascular Events in 12 Patients Receiving Permanent Pacemaker: A Propensity Score-Matched Cohort Study. J Diabetes Res 2022; 2022: 6758297 [PMID: 35386265 DOI: 10.1155/2022/6758297]
- Zhao X, Sun C, Cao M, Li H. Atrioventricular block can be used as a risk predictor of clinical atrial fibrillation. Clin Cardiol 2019; 42: 452-13 458 [PMID: 30801746 DOI: 10.1002/clc.23167]
- Abu Rmilah AA, Al-Zu'bi H, Haq IU, Yagmour AH, Jaber SA, Alkurashi AK, Qaisi I, Kowlgi GN, Cha YM, Mulpuru S, DeSimone CV, 14 Deshmukh AJ. Predicting permanent pacemaker implantation following transcatheter aortic valve replacement: A contemporary meta-analysis of 981,168 patients. Heart Rhythm O2 2022; 3: 385-392 [PMID: 36097458 DOI: 10.1016/j.hroo.2022.05.001]
- Mack MJ, Leon MB, Thourani VH, Pibarot P, Hahn RT, Genereux P, Kodali SK, Kapadia SR, Cohen DJ, Pocock SJ, Lu M, White R, Szerlip 15 M, Ternacle J, Malaisrie SC, Herrmann HC, Szeto WY, Russo MJ, Babaliaros V, Smith CR, Blanke P, Webb JG, Makkar R; PARTNER 3 Investigators. Transcatheter Aortic-Valve Replacement in Low-Risk Patients at Five Years. N Engl J Med 2023; 389: 1949-1960 [PMID: 37874020 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa2307447]



W J C

## World Journal of *Cardiology*

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2024 February 26; 16(2): 58-63

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v16.i2.58

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

EDITORIAL

## Inflammation as a cause of acute myocardial infarction in patients with myeloproliferative neoplasm

Amedeo Tirandi, Elisa Schiavetta, Elia Maioli, Fabrizio Montecucco, Luca Liberale

**Specialty type:** Cardiac and cardiovascular systems

**Provenance and peer review:** Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Chen K, China

Received: November 22, 2023 Peer-review started: November 22, 2023 First decision: December 23, 2023 Revised: January 1, 2024 Accepted: January 18, 2024 Article in press: January 18, 2024 Published online: February 26, 2024

Amedeo Tirandi, Elisa Schiavetta, Elia Maioli, Fabrizio Montecucco, Luca Liberale, Department of Internal Medicine, University of Genoa, Genoa 16132, Italy

Fabrizio Montecucco, Luca Liberale, IRCCS Ospedale Policlinico San Martino, Genoa – Italian Cardiovascular Network, Genoa 16132, Italy

**Corresponding author:** Fabrizio Montecucco, MD, PhD, Full Professor, Department of Internal Medicine University of Genoa, 6 v.le Benedetto XV, Genoa 16132, Italy. fabrizio.montecucco@unige.it

#### Abstract

Myeloproliferative neoplasms (MPN) are a group of diseases characterized by the clonal proliferation of hematopoietic progenitor or stem cells. They are clinically classifiable into four main diseases: chronic myeloid leukemia, essential thrombocythemia, polycythemia vera, and primary myelofibrosis. These pathologies are closely related to cardio- and cerebrovascular diseases due to the increased risk of arterial thrombosis, the most common underlying cause of acute myocardial infarction. Recent evidence shows that the classical Virchow triad (hypercoagulability, blood stasis, endothelial injury) might offer an explanation for such association. Indeed, patients with MPN might have a higher number and more reactive circulating platelets and leukocytes, a tendency toward blood stasis because of a high number of circulating red blood cells, endothelial injury or overactivation as a consequence of sustained inflammation caused by the neoplastic clonal cell. These abnormal cancer cells, especially when associated with the JAK2V617F mutation, tend to proliferate and secrete several inflammatory cytokines. This sustains a pro-inflammatory state throughout the body. The direct consequence is the induction of a pro-thrombotic state that acts as a determinant in favoring both venous and arterial thrombus formation. Clinically, MPN patients need to be carefully evaluated to be treated not only with cytoreductive treatments but also with cardiovascular protective strategies.

**Key Words:** Inflammation; Myeloproliferative neoplasm; Acute coronary syndrome; Myocardial infarction; Thrombosis; Cancer

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Raisbideng® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

**Core Tip:** Myeloproliferative neoplasms (MPNs) are a group of three diseases: essential thrombocythemia, polycythemia vera, and primary myelofibrosis. MPNs have a high risk of acute coronary syndromes due to a pro-thrombotic state. This state is induced by abnormal cancer cells that tend to proliferate and secrete several inflammatory cytokines, sustaining a pro-inflammatory state throughout the body. Clinically, MPN patients need to be carefully evaluated for cytoreductive treatments and cardiovascular protective strategies.

Citation: Tirandi A, Schiavetta E, Maioli E, Montecucco F, Liberale L. Inflammation as a cause of acute myocardial infarction in patients with myeloproliferative neoplasm. *World J Cardiol* 2024; 16(2): 58-63 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v16/i2/58.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v16.i2.58

#### INTRODUCTION

Myeloproliferative neoplasms (MPNs) are a group of diseases characterized by the clonal proliferation of hematopoietic progenitor or stem cells. MPNs are subdivided into four main diseases: Chronic myeloid leukemia, essential thrombocythemia (ET), polycythemia vera (PV), and primary myelofibrosis. Thrombosis is one of the most common complications of MPNs, which can occur in both arterial and venous vessels. As such, patients with MPN are at high risk of cardio- and cerebrovascular diseases such as myocardial infarction, deep venous thrombosis, and stroke[1,2]. Epidemiologically, up to 75% of patients with MPNs experience a major adverse cardiovascular event (MACE) as a complication of their clinical condition, and about a third after a first acute coronary syndrome (ACS) have another MACE[3]. Of interest, ACS might precede the development of a clinically overt MPNs<sup>[4]</sup>. Such higher cardiovascular risk is probably related to the hyperviscosity and thrombocytosis that are found in these neoplastic conditions. The main key elements that contribute to this pro-thrombotic state are the augmented number of circulating platelets and their hyperactivation, the marked leukocytosis, the Janus kinase 2 (JAK2) mutation, and the inflammatory state that especially concern the endothelium. In addition, the concomitant presence of classic cardiovascular risk factors (such as smoking, dyslipidemia, hypertension, etc.) further contributes to the higher risk of possible cardiovascular acute diseases in these patients. In this editorial, we comment on a recent article by Manan et al<sup>[5]</sup> published in the World Journal of Cardiology entitled "Acute myocardial infarction in myeloproliferative neoplasms". We provide the key insights of the paper, re-discussing the main topics focusing on the major mechanism underlying the relation of MPNs and ACS.

#### HOW INFLAMMATION IN MYELOPROLIFERATIVE NEOPLASMS CAN PREDISPOSE TO ACUTE COR-ONARY SYNDROMES

Inflammation plays a central role in the pathogenesis of cardiac diseases, particularly in the development of atherosclerotic disease[6]. In cases of MPN, the whole body undergoes a persistent inflammatory state, and patients typically suffer from inflammation-mediated symptoms such as fever, night sweats, weight loss, and fatigue[2]. Accordingly, in patients with ET and PV, the presence of high levels of C-reactive protein is associated with a higher risk of thrombosis [7]. Although more information is available concerning the role of inflammation in causing thrombosis, the underlying mechanisms through which MPNs contribute to the development of ACS are not completely understood. The concept is that thrombosis can affect both the arterial and venous vessels in MPN patients, and ACS are mainly caused by an arterial thrombosis of the coronary vessels[8]. The basic principle for the development of a thrombosi remains the notorious Virchow triad (hypercoagulability, blood stasis, endothelial injury)[9] (Figure 1).

#### Hypercoagulability

MPNs, especially ET, are associated with increased platelet count as well as their functionality impairment. ET is characterized by an overproduction of platelets from megakaryocytes as these cells become excessively sensitive to thrombopoietin[10]. As such, the risk of thrombosis is particularly higher in these patients. Such cells tend to be larger and more reactive[11]. Further to their increased pro-thrombotic activity, dysfunctional platelets are less sensitive to the inhibitory effect mediated by aspirin or clopidogrel[12]. Recently, the greater reactivity of platelets in MPNs has been related to the higher number of mitochondria within their membrane[13].

Leukocytosis is known to be a non-specific marker of acute myocardial infarction (AMI)[14], where it is thought to reflect the inflammatory response toward myocardial necrosis in AMI patients. In MPNs patients, it can also be an expression of a more aggressive disease or an exaggerated inflammatory response[3]. As such, patients with AMI and marked leukocytosis are associated with a worse prognosis[15,16]. On the other hand, leukocytosis itself is a possible cause of AMI. For instance, acute leukemia patients with marked leukocytosis are known to possibly have acute myocardial infarction as a complication of their clinical condition[16]. In these patients, the presence of a pro-thrombophilic state and higher expression of adhesion molecules (*e.g.*, CD56) are thought to favor the onset of ACS[17]. Similarly, patients with MPNs patients tend to have a pro-thrombotic state, and the presence of more circulating leukocytes can also reflect the presence of more reactive leukocytes with a tendency toward a dysregulated inflammatory response toward

Tirandi A et al. Inflammation in causing AMI in patients with MPNs



Figure 1 Myeloproliferative diseases in predisposing to acute coronary syndrome: The Virchow triad. Myeloproliferative neoplasms (MPNs) are a group of diseases characterized by the clonal proliferation of hematopoietic progenitor or stem cells. Patients with MPN are at high risk of cardiovascular events, especially those sustained by arterial thrombosis. Different causal links have been recently shown to account for increased acute myocardial infarction risk in patients with MPNs. ACS: Acute coronary syndrome; MPNs: Myeloproliferative neoplasms.

the onset of AMI. As such, leukocytosis in patients with PV can be considered as a possible hallmark of a higher cardiovascular risk[18]. Indeed, pro-inflammatory states are known to increase the expression of procoagulants such as tissue factor, fibrinogen and adhesion molecules.

JAK2 is a non-receptor tyrosine kinase in the Janus kinase family. JAK2 mutations are implicated in MPNs, including PV, ET, and myelofibrosis[19]. Furthermore, JAK2 mutation is also associated with a higher risk of ACS[3]. The most prevalent JAK2 mutation in MPNs is called JAK2V617F. This mutation consists of a substitution of a valine with phenylalanine in position 617. The resulting neoplastic clones favor the development of inflammation *via* the secretion of several inflammatory cytokines (*e.g.*, interleukin-1, interleukin-6, tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ , interferon- $\gamma$ ), resulting in mesenchymal and endothelial cell activation, bone marrow fibrosis, and eventually ending in acute myeloid leukemia [20]. Furthermore, JAK2V617F is associated with a higher expression of adhesion molecules, especially integrins, resulting in the favoring of thrombus formation[2]. Also, neutrophils harboring such mutations showed a higher tendency to form neutrophil extracellular traps[21-23]. Again, NETosis is known to facilitate thrombus formation working as a scaffold for fibrin and cells as well as carrying different molecules with pro-coagulant activity[24]. The result is a higher risk of thrombotic complications[25]. Other MPN-associated mutations involve genes encoding for reticulum-associated protein calreticulin and thrombopoietin receptor[26]. Of interest such mutations again result in the activation of JAK/STAT signaling and to date inhibitors of JAK2-driven signal have been approved for patients with myelofibrosis and PV[27].

#### Blood stasis

Blood stasis is typically found in MPNs patients. As all MPN relates with the expansion of a clone, and results in increased number of circulating cells a certain degree of blood stasis is expected in all patients with the disease[28]. The higher hematocrit found in PV patients is secondary to the higher number of circulating erythrocytes found in these patients. Such a higher number of circulating red blood cells is associated with blood stasis, blood flow disturbances, and hyper-viscosity[29], therefore favoring the development of thrombosis[30]. Similarly, in patients with ET cell count can hit high at over 1 million abnormal (see above) platelets/mL. Blood stasis together with the presence of over-reactive platelets can probably favor the development of thrombi because of platelet activation, as reported in studies on animal models that showed that platelet adhesion to the endothelium is directly related to the hematocrit levels[31]. Clinically, PV patients are more prone to have vascular complications, such ACS[18].

#### Endothelial damage

The endothelium is a pivotal player in the pathophysiology of arterial thrombosis. Indeed, under physiological conditions endothelial cells exert anti-thrombotic roles by producing several mediators including nitric oxide. The endothelium probably participates in the formation of thrombi as a consequence of the hyper-coagulability state rather than being the primary origin of thrombus formation[32]. However, under the pro-inflammatory pressure lead by the neoplastic clone, endothelial cells get dysfunctionally activated and secrete further pro-inflammatory cytokines propagating inflammation. Activated endothelial cells increase the expression of adhesion molecules including E-selectin on their surfaces in MPN

patients<sup>[33]</sup>. Although E-selectin is not considered a marker of unstable coronary plaque<sup>[34]</sup>, the endothelial overexpression of E-selectin can trigger an excessive leukocyte response in MPN patients. As such, even the smallest plaque tear might favor an exaggerated intracoronary activation of platelets, causing the clinical manifestation of ACS.

Furthermore, endothelial cells with mutated JAK2 have been found in patients carrying the JAK2 V617F mutation[35]. Of interest, such endothelial cells express a proadhesive phenotype with increased P-selectin expression that may be a further link with the increased thrombosis risk[36]. Indeed, therapeutic approaches aiming at P-selectin blockade have shown preclinical potential to reduce thrombosis. Increased atherosclerosis may not be the only link between AMI and MPNs, as almost 20% of AMI in MPNs occurs in patients without significant atherosclerotic occlusive disease[37]. Here, coronary vasoconstriction may play a role. Indeed, JAK2 V617F mice have shown increased arterial vasoconstriction due to their lower levels of nitric oxide, increased oxidative and inflammatory stress[38]. Specifically, erythrocytes-derived microvescicles have been deemed responsible for such phenotype and proteomic analysis of particles derived from JAK2V617F erythrocytes suggested MPO as the potential mediator[38].

#### CONCLUSION

MPNs are associated with cardiovascular diseases, especially those sustained by a thrombotic event. MPNs arise from clonal hematopoiesis of indeterminate potential (CHIP), whose investigation in the last years provided fundamental insight into the causal link between thrombosis and MPNs. CHIP is defined as the presence of a clonal mutation in a driver gene, occurring with a variant burden of  $\geq 2\%$  but without any clinical evidence of a hematologic neoplasm. Patients with CHIP show a 10-fold increased risk of developing any hematologic malignancy, including MPNs[39]. Of interest, the magnitude of risk enrichment due to CHIP is even higher than that of classical cardiovascular risk factors [39]. Experimental and clinical observations further point at inflammation as the culprit link between CHIP and cardiovascular disease[40,41]. Indeed, CHIP is nowadays seen as another characteristic of human aging, and it accompanies with another typical features of aging which is the appearance of a chronic low-grade pro-inflammatory state (inflamm-ageing). With recent trails showing the potential for anti-inflammatory therapies in cardiology[42], targeting specific inflammatory mediators may be a way to blunt prothrombotic state of patients with MPN. The role of CHIP and inflamm-ageing in cardiovascular disease development have been recently reviewed [41,43,44].

Manan *et al*<sup>[5]</sup> reviewed the recent literature and provided insight into the pathogenesis and clinical consequences of the association between hematological and cardiovascular diseases. Further research is needed to establish cardiovascular preventive strategies for MPN patients.

#### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Tirandi A wrote the paper and drew the image; Schiavetta E, and Maioli E critically revised the paper; Liberale L and Montecucco F supervised the entire work. All the authors read the final version of the manuscript and approve it for the submission and publication.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: Italy

ORCID number: Amedeo Tirandi 0000-0003-1875-0160; Elisa Schiavetta 0009-0003-6281-996X; Elia Maioli 0009-0005-4125-9240; Fabrizio Montecucco 0000-0003-0823-8729; Luca Liberale 0000-0003-1472-7975.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: A P-Editor: Zhang YL

#### REFERENCES

- Frederiksen H, Szépligeti S, Bak M, Ghanima W, Hasselbalch HC, Christiansen CF. Vascular Diseases In Patients With Chronic Myeloproliferative Neoplasms - Impact Of Comorbidity. Clin Epidemiol 2019; 11: 955-967 [PMID: 31807079 DOI: 10.2147/CLEP.S216787]
- Bhuria V, Baldauf CK, Schraven B, Fischer T. Thromboinflammation in Myeloproliferative Neoplasms (MPN)-A Puzzle Still to Be Solved. 2 Int J Mol Sci 2022; 23 [PMID: 35328626 DOI: 10.3390/ijms23063206]
- Leiva O, Jenkins A, Rosovsky RP, Leaf RK, Goodarzi K, Hobbs G. Risk Factors for Death or Cardiovascular Events after Acute Coronary 3 Syndrome in Patients with Myeloproliferative Neoplasms. Hematol Rep 2023; 15: 398-404 [PMID: 37367089 DOI: 10.3390/hematolrep15020040]



- Gouri A, Yakhlef A, Dekaken A, Bentorki AA. Acute myocardial infarction revealing a polycythemia vera. Ann Biol Clin (Paris) 2012; 70: 4 489-491 [PMID: 22796622 DOI: 10.1684/abc.2012.0735]
- Manan MR, Kipkorir V, Nawaz I, Waithaka MW, Srichawla BS, Găman AM, Diaconu CC, Găman MA. Acute myocardial infarction in 5 myeloproliferative neoplasms. World J Cardiol 2023; 15: 571-581 [PMID: 38058401 DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i11.571]
- 6 Tirandi A, Montecucco F, Liberale L. Heart and vessels 'on fire'. Eur J Clin Invest 2023; 53: e14052 [PMID: 37394695 DOI: 10.1111/eci.14052]
- Barbui T, Carobbio A, Finazzi G, Vannucchi AM, Barosi G, Antonioli E, Guglielmelli P, Pancrazzi A, Salmoiraghi S, Zilio P, Ottomano C, 7 Marchioli R, Cuccovillo I, Bottazzi B, Mantovani A, Rambaldi A; AGIMM and IIC Investigators. Inflammation and thrombosis in essential thrombocythemia and polycythemia vera: different role of C-reactive protein and pentraxin 3. Haematologica 2011; 96: 315-318 [PMID: 21173097 DOI: 10.3324/haematol.2010.031070]
- 8 Nurkalem Z, Uslu N, Gorgulu S, Eren M. Left main coronary thrombosis with essential thrombocythemia. J Thromb Thrombolysis 2006; 22: 165-167 [PMID: 17111201 DOI: 10.1007/s11239-006-9016-5]
- 9 Chung I, Lip GY. Virchow's triad revisited: blood constituents. Pathophysiol Haemost Thromb 2003; 33: 449-454 [PMID: 15692259 DOI: 10.1159/000083844]
- Kawasaki H, Nakano T, Kohdera U, Kobayashi Y. Hypersensitivity of megakaryocyte progenitors to thrombopoietin in essential 10 thrombocythemia. Am J Hematol 2001; 68: 194-197 [PMID: 11754402 DOI: 10.1002/ajh.1178]
- Vannucchi AM, Barbui T. Thrombocytosis and thrombosis. Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program2007: 363-370 [PMID: 18024652 11 DOI: 10.1182/asheducation-2007.1.363]
- Koupenova M, Kehrel BE, Corkrey HA, Freedman JE. Thrombosis and platelets: an update. Eur Heart J 2017; 38: 785-791 [PMID: 28039338] 12 DOI: 10.1093/eurhearti/ehw550]
- Ross DM, Liang HPH, Iqra Z, Whittaker S, Tan CW, Dale BJ, Chen VM. Platelets from patients with myeloproliferative neoplasms have 13 increased numbers of mitochondria that are hypersensitive to depolarization by thrombin. Sci Rep 2023; 13: 9172 [PMID: 37280424 DOI: 10.1038/s41598-023-36266-2]
- Green SM, Vowels J, Waterman B, Rothrock SG, Kuniyoshi G. Leukocytosis: a new look at an old marker for acute myocardial infarction. 14 Acad Emerg Med 1996; 3: 1034-1041 [PMID: 8922012 DOI: 10.1111/j.1553-2712.1996.tb03350.x]
- 15 Kruk M, Przyłuski J, Kalińczuk L, Pregowski J, Kadziela J, Kaczmarska E, Petryka J, Kepka C, Klopotowski M, Chmielak Z, Ciszewski A, Demkow M, Karcz M, Witkowski A, Ruzyłło W. Hemoglobin, leukocytosis and clinical outcomes of ST-elevation myocardial infarction treated with primary angioplasty: ANIN Myocardial Infarction Registry. Circ J 2009; 73: 323-329 [PMID: 19106461 DOI: 10.1253/circj.cj-08-0370]
- 16 Pesaro AE, Nicolau JC, Serrano CV Jr, Truffa R, Gaz MV, Karbstein R, Giraldez RR, Kalil Filho R, Ramires JA. Influence of leukocytes and glycemia on the prognosis of patients with acute myocardial infarction. Arq Bras Cardiol 2009; 92: 84-93 [PMID: 19360239 DOI: 10.1590/s0066-782x2009000200003
- 17 Colović N, Bogdanović A, Virijević M, Vidović A, Tomin D. Acute Myocardial Infarction during Induction Chemotherapy for Acute MLL t(4;11) Leukemia with Lineage Switch and Extreme Leukocytosis. Srp Arh Celok Lek 2015; 143: 734-738 [PMID: 26946771 DOI: 10.2298/sarh1512734c
- Landolfi R, Di Gennaro L, Barbui T, De Stefano V, Finazzi G, Marfisi R, Tognoni G, Marchioli R; European Collaboration on Low-Dose 18 Aspirin in Polycythemia Vera (ECLAP). Leukocytosis as a major thrombotic risk factor in patients with polycythemia vera. Blood 2007; 109: 2446-2452 [PMID: 17105814 DOI: 10.1182/blood-2006-08-042515]
- Kralovics R, Passamonti F, Buser AS, Teo SS, Tiedt R, Passweg JR, Tichelli A, Cazzola M, Skoda RC. A gain-of-function mutation of JAK2 19 in myeloproliferative disorders. N Engl J Med 2005; 352: 1779-1790 [PMID: 15858187 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa051113]
- Lussana F, Rambaldi A. Inflammation and myeloproliferative neoplasms. J Autoimmun 2017; 85: 58-63 [PMID: 28669446 DOI: 20 10.1016/j.jaut.2017.06.010
- Wolach O, Sellar RS, Martinod K, Cherpokova D, McConkey M, Chappell RJ, Silver AJ, Adams D, Castellano CA, Schneider RK, Padera 21 RF, DeAngelo DJ, Wadleigh M, Steensma DP, Galinsky I, Stone RM, Genovese G, McCarroll SA, Iliadou B, Hultman C, Neuberg D, Mullally A, Wagner DD, Ebert BL. Increased neutrophil extracellular trap formation promotes thrombosis in myeloproliferative neoplasms. Sci Transl Med 2018; 10 [PMID: 29643232 DOI: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aan8292]
- Bonaventura A, Montecucco F, Dallegri F, Carbone F, Lüscher TF, Camici GG, Liberale L. Novel findings in neutrophil biology and their 22 impact on cardiovascular disease. Cardiovasc Res 2019; 115: 1266-1285 [PMID: 30918936 DOI: 10.1093/cvr/cvz084]
- 23 Bonaventura A, Liberale L, Carbone F, Vecchié A, Diaz-Cañestro C, Camici GG, Montecucco F, Dallegri F. The Pathophysiological Role of Neutrophil Extracellular Traps in Inflammatory Diseases. Thromb Haemost 2018; 118: 6-27 [PMID: 29304522 DOI: 10.1160/TH17-09-0630]
- Liberale L, Holy EW, Akhmedov A, Bonetti NR, Nietlispach F, Matter CM, Mach F, Montecucco F, Beer JH, Paneni F, Ruschitzka F, Libby 24 P, Lüscher TF, Camici GG. Interleukin-1β Mediates Arterial Thrombus Formation via NET-Associated Tissue Factor. J Clin Med 2019; 8 [PMID: 31779200 DOI: 10.3390/jcm8122072]
- Scott LM. The JAK2 exon 12 mutations: a comprehensive review. Am J Hematol 2011; 86: 668-676 [PMID: 21674578 DOI: 25 10.1002/ajh.22063]
- Vainchenker W, Kralovics R. Genetic basis and molecular pathophysiology of classical myeloproliferative neoplasms. Blood 2017; 129: 667-26 679 [PMID: 28028029 DOI: 10.1182/blood-2016-10-695940]
- 27 Shawky AM, Almalki FA, Abdalla AN, Abdelazeem AH, Gouda AM. A Comprehensive Overview of Globally Approved JAK Inhibitors. Pharmaceutics 2022; 14 [PMID: 35631587 DOI: 10.3390/pharmaceutics14051001]
- Hasselbalch HC, Elvers M, Schafer AI. The pathobiology of thrombosis, microvascular disease, and hemorrhage in the myeloproliferative 28 neoplasms. Blood 2021; 137: 2152-2160 [PMID: 33649757 DOI: 10.1182/blood.2020008109]
- 29 Willerslev A, Hansen MM, Klefter ON, Bjerrum OW, Hasselbalch HC, Clemmensen SN, Larsen M, Munch IC. Non-invasive imaging of retinal blood flow in myeloproliferative neoplasms. Acta Ophthalmol 2017; 95: 146-152 [PMID: 27682603 DOI: 10.1111/aos.13249]
- Pearson TC, Wetherley-Mein G. Vascular occlusive episodes and venous haematocrit in primary proliferative polycythaemia. Lancet 1978; 2: 30 1219-1222 [PMID: 82733 DOI: 10.1016/s0140-6736(78)92098-6]
- Turitto VT, Weiss HJ. Red blood cells: their dual role in thrombus formation. Science 1980; 207: 541-543 [PMID: 7352265 DOI: 31 10.1126/science.7352265
- Friedenberg WR, Roberts RC, David DE. Relationship of thrombohemorrhagic complications to endothelial cell function in patients with 32 chronic myeloproliferative disorders. Am J Hematol 1992; 40: 283-289 [PMID: 1503083 DOI: 10.1002/ajh.2830400408]



- Musolino C, Alonci A, Allegra A, Spatari G, Bellomo G, Tringali O, Quartarone C, Squadrito G, Quartarone M. Increased levels of the soluble 33 adhesion molecule E-selectin in patients with chronic myeloproliferative disorders and thromboembolic complications. Am J Hematol 1998; 57: 109-112 [PMID: 9462541 DOI: 10.1002/(sici)1096-8652(199802)57:2<109::aid-ajh3>3.0.co;2-#]
- Galvani M, Ferrini D, Ottani F, Nanni C, Ramberti A, Amboni P, Iamele L, Vernocchi A, Nicolini FA. Soluble E-selectin is not a marker of 34 unstable coronary plaque in serum of patients with ischemic heart disease. J Thromb Thrombolysis 2000; 9: 53-60 [PMID: 10590190 DOI: 10.1023/a:1018656530541]
- Guy A, Gourdou-Latyszenok V, Le Lay N, Peghaire C, Kilani B, Dias JV, Duplaa C, Renault MA, Denis C, Villeval JL, Boulaftali Y, Jandrot-35 Perrus M, Couffinhal T, James C. Vascular endothelial cell expression of JAK2(V617F) is sufficient to promote a pro-thrombotic state due to increased P-selectin expression. Haematologica 2019; 104: 70-81 [PMID: 30171023 DOI: 10.3324/haematol.2018.195321]
- 36 Guadall A, Lesteven E, Letort G, Awan Toor S, Delord M, Pognant D, Brusson M, Verger E, Maslah N, Giraudier S, Larghero J, Vanneaux V, Chomienne C, El Nemer W, Cassinat B, Kiladjian JJ. Endothelial Cells Harbouring the JAK2V617F Mutation Display Pro-Adherent and Pro-Thrombotic Features. Thromb Haemost 2018; 118: 1586-1599 [PMID: 30103245 DOI: 10.1055/s-0038-1667015]
- Pósfai É, Marton I, Borbényi Z, Nemes A. Myocardial infarction as a thrombotic complication of essential thrombocythemia and polycythemia 37 vera. Anatol J Cardiol 2016; 16: 397-402 [PMID: 27182615 DOI: 10.14744/AnatolJCardiol.2015.6125]
- Poisson J, Tanguy M, Davy H, Camara F, El Mdawar MB, Kheloufi M, Dagher T, Devue C, Lasselin J, Plessier A, Merchant S, Blanc-Brude 38 O, Souyri M, Mougenot N, Dingli F, Loew D, Hatem SN, James C, Villeval JL, Boulanger CM, Rautou PE. Erythrocyte-derived microvesicles induce arterial spasms in JAK2V617F myeloproliferative neoplasm. J Clin Invest 2020; 130: 2630-2643 [PMID: 32045382 DOI: 10.1172/JCI124566
- Jaiswal S, Fontanillas P, Flannick J, Manning A, Grauman PV, Mar BG, Lindsley RC, Mermel CH, Burtt N, Chavez A, Higgins JM, 39 Moltchanov V, Kuo FC, Kluk MJ, Henderson B, Kinnunen L, Koistinen HA, Ladenvall C, Getz G, Correa A, Banahan BF, Gabriel S, Kathiresan S, Stringham HM, McCarthy MI, Boehnke M, Tuomilehto J, Haiman C, Groop L, Atzmon G, Wilson JG, Neuberg D, Altshuler D, Ebert BL. Age-related clonal hematopoiesis associated with adverse outcomes. N Engl J Med 2014; 371: 2488-2498 [PMID: 25426837 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1408617]
- Fuster JJ, MacLauchlan S, Zuriaga MA, Polackal MN, Ostriker AC, Chakraborty R, Wu CL, Sano S, Muralidharan S, Rius C, Vuong J, Jacob 40 S, Muralidhar V, Robertson AA, Cooper MA, Andrés V, Hirschi KK, Martin KA, Walsh K. Clonal hematopoiesis associated with TET2 deficiency accelerates atherosclerosis development in mice. Science 2017; 355: 842-847 [PMID: 28104796 DOI: 10.1126/science.aag1381]
- Libby P, Ebert BL. CHIP (Clonal Hematopoiesis of Indeterminate Potential): Potent and Newly Recognized Contributor to Cardiovascular 41 Risk. Circulation 2018; 138: 666-668 [PMID: 30359133 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.118.034392]
- Liberale L, Montecucco F, Schwarz L, Lüscher TF, Camici GG. Inflammation and cardiovascular diseases: lessons from seminal clinical 42 trials. Cardiovasc Res 2021; 117: 411-422 [PMID: 32666079 DOI: 10.1093/cvr/cvaa211]
- 43 Liberale L, Montecucco F, Tardif JC, Libby P, Camici GG. Inflamm-ageing: the role of inflammation in age-dependent cardiovascular disease. Eur Heart J 2020; 41: 2974-2982 [PMID: 32006431 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehz961]
- Liberale L, Badimon L, Montecucco F, Lüscher TF, Libby P, Camici GG. Inflammation, Aging, and Cardiovascular Disease: JACC Review 44 Topic of the Week. J Am Coll Cardiol 2022; 79: 837-847 [PMID: 35210039 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2021.12.017]



W J C World Journal of Cardiology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2024 February 26; 16(2): 64-66

DOI: 10.4330/wic.v16.i2.64

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

EDITORIAL

### Facing ethical concerns in the age of precise gene therapy: Outlook on inherited arrhythmias

#### Federico Carbone, Fabrizio Montecucco

Specialty type: Cardiac and cardiovascular systems

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Kerpel-Fronius S, Hungary

Received: November 30, 2023 Peer-review started: November 30, 2023 First decision: December 28, 2023 Revised: January 2, 2024 Accepted: January 29, 2024 Article in press: January 29, 2024 Published online: February 26, 2024



Federico Carbone, Fabrizio Montecucco, Department of Internal Medicine, University of Genoa, Genoa 16132, Italy

Federico Carbone, Fabrizio Montecucco, IRCCS Ospedale Policlinico San Martino Genoa, Italian Cardiovascular Network, Genoa 16132, Italy

Corresponding author: Fabrizio Montecucco, MD, PhD, Full Professor, Department of Internal Medicine, University of Genoa, 6 viale Benedetto XV, 16132 Genova, Italy. fabrizio.montecucco@unige.it

#### Abstract

This editorial, comments on the article by Spartalis et al published in the recent issue of the World Journal of Cardiology. We here provide an outlook on potential ethical concerns related to the future application of gene therapy in the field of inherited arrhythmias. As monogenic diseases with no or few therapeutic options available through standard care, inherited arrhythmias are ideal candidates to gene therapy in their treatment. Patients with inherited arrhythmias typically have a poor quality of life, especially young people engaged in agonistic sports. While genome editing for treatment of inherited arrhythmias still has theoretical application, advances in CRISPR/Cas9 technology now allows the generation of knock-in animal models of the disease. However, clinical translation is somehow expected soon and this make consistent discussing about ethical concerns related to gene editing in inherited arrhythmias. Genomic off-target activity is a known technical issue, but its relationship with ethnical and individual genetical diversity raises concerns about an equitable accessibility. Meanwhile, the costeffectiveness may further limit an equal distribution of gene therapies. The economic burden of gene therapies on healthcare systems is is increasingly recognized as a pressing concern. A growing body of studies are reporting uncertainty in payback periods with intuitive short-term effects for insurance-based healthcare systems, but potential concerns for universal healthcare systems in the long term as well. Altogether, those aspects strongly indicate a need of regulatory entities to manage those issues.

Key Words: Ethics; Inherited arrhythmias; CRISPR/Cas9; Gene therapy; Equitable accessibility

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.



**Core Tip:** As for other diseases, inherited arrhythmias may take advantage from gene editing. Even we are still far from clinical translation, ethical issues need to be considered in order to proceed in this research field avoiding any misconduct. Off-target effects, equitable accessibility of life-saving gene therapies and economic burden for healthcare systems are key issues that need to addressed by regulatory entities.

Citation: Carbone F, Montecucco F. Facing ethical concerns in the age of precise gene therapy: Outlook on inherited arrhythmias. World J Cardiol 2024; 16(2): 64-66 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v16/i2/64.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v16.i2.64

#### INTRODUCTION

The manuscript "Inherited arrhythmias and gene therapy: Are there any ethical considerations to take into account?", summarizes current evidence regarding potential application of gene therapy in the context of inherited arrhythmias[1]. This class of diseases aligns well with the application field of gene therapy meeting the clinical needs of monogenic disease with no or few therapeutic options available through standard care [2,3]. The quality of life for patients with inherited arrhythmias remains an unmet clinical need[4]. Young individuals engaged in agonistic sports often find themselves compelled to cease any practice following diagnosis. Despite a general consensus from the European Society of Cardiology and American Heart Association to continue sport activities, local laws usually restrict them from any competition[5,6]. Even a life-saving device like International Classification of Diseases is burdened by the negative effects of recurrent shocks, leading to the occurrence of electrical storms triggered by the catecholamines release after each shock [7].

#### OVERVIEW AND OUTLOOK ON GENOME EDITING FOR INHERITED ARRHYTHMIAS

Throughout the manuscript the authors review the theoretical applications of genome editing for the treatment of inherited arrhythmias. Advances in CRISPR/Cas9 technology have broadened the potential for generating knock-in animal models[8,9]. However, current challenges lie in the development of delivery methods and ensuring editing efficiency while minimizing off-target effects[10]. In addition to technical limitations, ethical concerns are worth considering. One such concern arises from genomic off-target activity which is actively being addressed through the development of prediction assays capable of identifying unwanted editing events[11]. Furthermore, on- and off-target effects may be influenced by the individual genetical diversity, potentially limiting the equitable accessibility of lifesaving gene therapies. Similarly, the cost-effectiveness may further limit the equal distribution of gene therapies. While this impact is intuitive for insurance-based healthcare systems, a similar effect is anticipated for universal healthcare systems in the long term[12-14]. In the real word, this is a poignant aspect as many patients may have to put their homes and life savings at risk[13]. This underscores the need for a regulatory entity to prevent misconduct. Leading scientists, politicians and economists are called upon to promptly update the first genome editing-specific guidance documents release by the United States Food and Drug Administration and European regulators in 2022[15,16].

#### CONCLUSION

In this context, the research of gene therapies for inherited arrhythmias is still in its infancy and lacks translation into a clinical setting. However, it must continue on a well-established track that adheres to defined ethical standards.

#### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Carbone F and Montecucco F performed research and wrote the paper.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All the authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: Italy



ORCID number: Federico Carbone 0000-0003-2957-4078; Fabrizio Montecucco 0000-0003-0823-8729.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: A P-Editor: Zhao S

#### REFERENCES

- 1 Spartalis M, Spartalis E, Siasos G. Inherited arrhythmias and gene therapy: Are there any ethical considerations to take into account? World J Cardiol 2023; 15: 623-626 [PMID: 38173906 DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v15.i12.623]
- Schambach A, Buchholz CJ, Torres-Ruiz R, Cichutek K, Morgan M, Trapani I, Büning H. A new age of precision gene therapy. Lancet 2023 2 [PMID: 38006899 DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(23)01952-9]
- 3 Bezzerides VJ, Prondzynski M, Carrier L, Pu WT. Gene therapy for inherited arrhythmias. Cardiovasc Res 2020; 116: 1635-1650 [PMID: 32321160 DOI: 10.1093/cvr/cvaa107]
- 4 Offerhaus JA, Bezzina CR, Wilde AAM. Epidemiology of inherited arrhythmias. Nat Rev Cardiol 2020; 17: 205-215 [PMID: 31582838 DOI: 10.1038/s41569-019-0266-2]
- Ackerman MJ, Zipes DP, Kovacs RJ, Maron BJ. Eligibility and Disqualification Recommendations for Competitive Athletes With 5 Cardiovascular Abnormalities: Task Force 10: The Cardiac Channelopathies: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association and American College of Cardiology. J Am Coll Cardiol 2015; 66: 2424-2428 [PMID: 26542662 DOI: 10.1016/j.jacc.2015.09.042]
- Heidbuchel H, Arbelo E, D'Ascenzi F, Borjesson M, Boveda S, Castelletti S, Miljoen H, Mont L, Niebauer J, Papadakis M, Pelliccia A, 6 Saenen J, Sanz de la Garza M, Schwartz PJ, Sharma S, Zeppenfeld K, Corrado D; EAPC/EHRA update of the Recommendations for participation in leisure-time physical activity and competitive sports in patients with arrhythmias and potentially arrhythmogenic conditions. Recommendations for participation in leisure-time physical activity and competitive sports of patients with arrhythmias and potentially arrhythmogenic conditions. Part 2: ventricular arrhythmias, channelopathies, and implantable defibrillators. Europace 2021; 23: 147-148 [PMID: 32596731 DOI: 10.1093/europace/euaa106]
- 7 Schwartz PJ, Ackerman MJ. The long QT syndrome: a transatlantic clinical approach to diagnosis and therapy. Eur Heart J 2013; 34: 3109-3116 [PMID: 23509228 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/eht089]
- Shen B, Zhang J, Wu H, Wang J, Ma K, Li Z, Zhang X, Zhang P, Huang X. Generation of gene-modified mice via Cas9/RNA-mediated gene 8 targeting. Cell Res 2013; 23: 720-723 [PMID: 23545779 DOI: 10.1038/cr.2013.46]
- 9 Song Y, Guo T, Jiang Y, Zhu M, Wang H, Lu W, Jiang M, Qi M, Lan F, Cui M. KCNQ1-deficient and KCNQ1-mutant human embryonic stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes for modeling QT prolongation. Stem Cell Res Ther 2022; 13: 287 [PMID: 35765105 DOI: 10.1186/s13287-022-02964-3
- Moore OM, Ho KS, Copeland JS, Parthasarathy V, Wehrens XHT. Genome Editing and Cardiac Arrhythmias. Cells 2023; 12 [PMID: 10 37408197 DOI: 10.3390/cells12101363]
- Turchiano G, Andrieux G, Klermund J, Blattner G, Pennucci V, El Gaz M, Monaco G, Poddar S, Mussolino C, Cornu TI, Boerries M, 11 Cathomen T. Quantitative evaluation of chromosomal rearrangements in gene-edited human stem cells by CAST-Seq. Cell Stem Cell 2021; 28: 1136-1147.e5 [PMID: 33626327 DOI: 10.1016/j.stem.2021.02.002]
- 12 Wong CH, Li D, Wang N, Gruber J, Lo AW, Conti RM. The estimated annual financial impact of gene therapy in the United States. Gene Ther 2023; 30: 761-773 [PMID: 37935855 DOI: 10.1038/s41434-023-00419-9]
- Harrison PT, Friedmann T. Cost of gene therapy. Gene Ther 2023; 30: 737 [PMID: 37938351 DOI: 10.1038/s41434-023-00408-y] 13
- Zemplenyi A, Leonard J, DiStefano MJ, Anderson KE, Wright GC, Mendola ND, Nair K, McQueen RB. Using Real-World Data to Inform 14 Value-Based Contracts for Cell and Gene Therapies in Medicaid. Pharmacoeconomics 2023 [PMID: 37989969 DOI: 10.1007/s40273-023-01335-x
- Administration UFaD. Human gene therapy products incorporating human genome editing. US Food and Drug Administration. March, 2022 15
- Anliker B, Childs L, Rau J, Renner M, Schüle S, Schuessler-Lenz M, Sebe A. Regulatory Considerations for Clinical Trial Applications with 16 CRISPR-Based Medicinal Products. CRISPR J 2022; 5: 364-376 [PMID: 35452274 DOI: 10.1089/crispr.2021.0148]



W J C

## World Journal of Cardiology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2024 February 26; 16(2): 67-72

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v16.i2.67

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

EDITORIAL

### Cardiac rehabilitation after cardiac surgery: An important underutilized treatment strategy

Christos Kourek, Stavros Dimopoulos

Specialty type: Rehabilitation

Provenance and peer review: Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Eid N, Malaysia

Received: December 10, 2023 Peer-review started: December 10. 2023

First decision: December 19, 2023 Revised: December 21, 2023 Accepted: January 15, 2024 Article in press: January 15, 2024 Published online: February 26, 2024



Christos Kourek, Medical School of Athens, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Athens 15772, Greece

Stavros Dimopoulos, Cardiac Surgery Intensive Care Unit, Onassis Cardiac Surgery Center, Athens 17674, Greece

Stavros Dimopoulos, Clinical Ergospirometry, Exercise & Rehabilitation Laboratory, 1st Critical Care Medicine Department, Evangelismos Hospital, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Athens 10676, Greece

Corresponding author: Stavros Dimopoulos, MD, PhD, Director, Cardiac Surgery Intensive Care Unit, Onassis Cardiac Surgery Center, L.A.Syggrou 356, Athens 17674, Greece. stdimop@gmail.com

#### Abstract

Physical inactivity remains in high levels after cardiac surgery, reaching up to 50%. Patients present a significant loss of functional capacity, with prominent muscle weakness after cardiac surgery due to anesthesia, surgical incision, duration of cardiopulmonary bypass, and mechanical ventilation that affects their quality of life. These complications, along with pulmonary complications after surgery, lead to extended intensive care unit (ICU) and hospital length of stay and significant mortality rates. Despite the well-known beneficial effects of cardiac rehabilitation, this treatment strategy still remains broadly underutilized in patients after cardiac surgery. Prehabilitation and ICU early mobilization have been both showed to be valid methods to improve exercise tolerance and muscle strength. Early mobilization should be adjusted to each patient's functional capacity with progressive exercise training, from passive mobilization to more active range of motion and resistance exercises. Cardiopulmonary exercise testing remains the gold standard for exercise capacity assessment and optimal prescription of aerobic exercise intensity. During the last decade, recent advances in healthcare technology have changed cardiac rehabilitation perspectives, leading to the future of cardiac rehabilitation. By incorporating artificial intelligence, simulation, telemedicine and virtual cardiac rehabilitation, cardiac surgery patients may improve adherence and compliance, targeting to reduced hospital readmissions and decreased healthcare costs.

Key Words: Cardiac rehabilitation; Cardiac surgery; Cardiopulmonary exercise testing; Early mobilization; Treatment; Technology



#### ©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** Cardiac rehabilitation is a medically supervised program designed to maintain or improve cardiovascular health, and should be considered as an important treatment strategy in patients after cardiac surgery. It has multiple beneficial effects on functional capacity, endothelial and skeletal muscle function, and quality of life. Recent advances have been made in cardiac rehabilitation during the last decades, including the use of artificial intelligence, simulation, telemedicine and virtual cardiac rehabilitation that improve compliance. As a result, reduced hospital readmissions and decreased healthcare costs are being observed in the modern healthcare systems.

Citation: Kourek C, Dimopoulos S. Cardiac rehabilitation after cardiac surgery: An important underutilized treatment strategy. World J Cardiol 2024; 16(2): 67-72

URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v16/i2/67.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v16.i2.67

#### INTRODUCTION

Cardiac surgery includes a variety of procedures with coronary artery by-pass grafting, valve replacement, aortic/mitral/ tricuspid valve replacement or reconstruction, heart transplantation and Bentall surgery being the most frequent among them. Patients present a loss of cognitive and exercise capacity[1], muscle mass[2] and quality of life[3,4] after cardiac surgery due to anesthesia, surgical incision, duration of cardiopulmonary bypass, and mechanical ventilation<sup>[5]</sup>. These complications, along with pulmonary complications after surgery, lead to extended intensive care unit (ICU) and hospital length of stay and significant mortality rates [5]. Physical inactivity remains high after cardiac surgery, reaching up to 49% in these patients[6]. Moreover, physical inactivity, even late after cardiac surgery, is associated with increased long-term mortality[6].

Cardiac rehabilitation is designed to improve cardiovascular health in patients with cardiovascular diseases and is recommended by guidelines as Class IA[7,8]. In cardiac surgery, cardiac rehabilitation is associated with a lower 2-year mortality[9]. Despite the well-known beneficial effects of cardiac rehabilitation after cardiac surgery, this treatment strategy still remains underutilized due to low rates of referrals, adherence and compliance. The aim of the present editorial is to highlight the role of cardiac rehabilitation in cardiac surgery and demonstrate the most recent advances in this field.

#### EARLY MOBILIZATION AND PREHABILITATION

Early mobilization should be considered as an important preventive and treatment method for ICU acquired weakness in patients after cardiac surgery. Despite its safety, feasibility, beneficial effects on exercise capacity[10] and its association with reduced length of ICU stay[11], more studies are required in order to provide confirming evidence[12]. Early mobilization should be adjusted to each patient's functional capacity, initiating from passive mobilization such as stretching, splinting, passive movements and neuromuscular electrical stimulation (NMES), and increasing the functional status with simple active range of motion and resistance exercises including sitting in a chair, leg press, squats from sitting position, walking, biking on an exercise bike, walking on stairs and inspiratory muscle training[13,14]. Passive mobilization and NMES are usually implemented in intubated patients under mechanical ventilation, high-risk patients with hemodynamic instability or patients with reduced consciousness while active-assisted range-of motion exercises, inspiratory muscle training and resistance exercises are implemented in those who need mobilization after cardiac surgery, with satisfactory level of consciousness [13,14]. In general, early mobilization has been shown safe and feasible in cardiovascular diseases[15-17] and critically ill patients[18], as well as in other medical conditions such as subarachnoid hemorrhage and external ventricular drain[19], continuous renal replacement therapy[20] and sepsis[21,22]. Beyond all its beneficial effects, early mobilization of cardiac surgery patients requires close monitoring in the ICU due to possible side effects, including significant hemodynamic changes<sup>[23]</sup>. As a result, expert multidisciplinary team approach and individualized rehabilitation program, adjusted to the patient's functional status, are necessary in order to minimize adverse events<sup>[24]</sup>.

Prehabilitation is another novel modality of rehabilitation defined as a process of improving functional capability of a patient prior to a surgical procedure. Recent studies have demonstrated that prehabilitation seems to improve functional capacity and enhance postoperative recovery in patients undergoing cardiothoracic surgery [25,26]. Moreover, prehabilitation contributes to better quality of life in patients with stable coronary artery disease awaiting cardiac surgery [27]. Growing evidence supports prehabilitation even in patients with advanced heart failure or extracorporeal membrane oxygenation as a bridge to left ventricle assist device or heart or lung transplantation. In these cases, prehabilitation should be performed daily for approximately 60 min including airway clearance techniques and ventilation in prone and supine position when required, and in-bed active-assisted range of motion exercises including sitting at the bedside, standing balance and tolerance, rolling, stretching, positioning in bed, strengthening and reconditioning exercises in the



supine position, bedside cycling, inspiratory muscle training, out-of-bed activities such as standing at the bedside, strength of standing force, sitting on the edge of the bed and transfer from bed to chair, exercises in the sitting position on the edge of the bed, aerobic training on a cycle ergometer or a treadmill and inspiratory muscle training according to patient's functional capacity[14].

#### **EXERCISE PRESCRIPTION**

Exercise prescription is a quite complex procedure, especially in patients after cardiac surgery. The most difficult part is to establish the beneficial "dose" of exercise in order to achieve the maximum beneficial results and avoid harmful effects. Clinical assessment and risk stratification *via* transthoracic echocardiography and cardiopulmonary exercise testing (CPET) are required prior to participation in such rehabilitation programs. CPET is the gold standard for the prescription of maximum aerobic exercise intensity [28]. Monitoring of heart rate (HR) dynamics and ventilation, as well as metabolic parameters such as oxygen uptake (VO<sub>2</sub>) and carbon dioxide output (VCO<sub>2</sub>), provides objective measurements of respiratory, metabolic, and cardiovascular responses to exercise and creates an individualized program for each patient [29]. Therefore, exercise training can be classified in four intensity domains, based on the percentage of peak VO<sub>2</sub>, HR, HR reserve, and Borg scale; light to moderate, moderate to high, high to very high, and very high intensity [30]. In the first phase of rehabilitation, it is usually suggested to start with lower intensities of exercise and mostly work on both frequency and duration of each session, rather than intensity. Intensity should be maintained quite constantly, close to the lowest limit of the moderate intensity range, and then, increase to higher levels depending on the rehabilitation phase and the individualized needs[30].

#### **RECENT ADVANCES IN CARDIAC REHABILITATION**

During the last decade, recent advances have been made in cardiac rehabilitation. Rapidly-advanced technology is the cornerstone in the future of cardiac rehabilitation. Wearables such as fitness bands and smartwatches that monitor heart rhythm during exercise in order to detect arrhythmias are used by 5% to 11% of the world's adult population[31]. Intelligent computing including artificial intelligence (AI) and complex modeling are now increasingly used in biologic systems so that to create individualized rehabilitation programs[32]. Specifically, AI could estimate and quantify risk assessment of patients before and after cardiac surgery via special algorithms, using CPET, anaerobic threshold quantification, biomarkers and frailty parameters. Moreover, it could be a useful tool to predict mortality and morbidity[33], and detect dysrhythmias in electrocardiography during rehabilitation with promising results in accuracy and speed of interpretation[34,35], as well as in more advanced imaging such as echocardiography[36] and magnetic resonance imaging[37]. Other significant variables, including simulation and telemedicine, could be valuable for solving access problems due to disparities, disabilities, long physical distance from health care centers, and lack of expertise and specialized personnel, as well as for high-risk situations such as virulent infections and combat[32]. Virtual cardiac rehabilitation has been also shown to improve patients' adherence and compliance, reduce hospital readmissions, and decrease associated costs and cardiovascular risk [38,39]. Synchronous audiovisual technology is used to supervise patient exercise and provide education in real-time. Technological advances should translate into actual benefits for patients and health care providers, providing higher-quality of services and safety in health care systems[32].

Cardiac rehabilitation, with its traditional form, is an individualized, patient-centered program. However, the future of cardiac rehabilitation will include more options for participants with in-person visits, virtual one-on-one visits, virtual group visits, and asynchronous exercise with or without remote monitoring[40]. The choice whether the participation will include exclusively one delivery mode or a hybrid of 2 or more delivery modes depends on many variables related with the participants, such as their physical status, their opportunity of participation, the distance from the rehabilitation facilities, *etc.* 

Finally, cardiac rehabilitation includes modification of previous lifestyle habits including smoking and alcohol cessation, loss of weight and medication adherence. Synchronous interventions *via* telemedicine could be used to improve access to these services, such as consultation with a registered dietitian or a behavioral therapist[40]. Core advances of a cardiac rehabilitation program are demonstrated in Figure 1.

#### CONCLUSION

Cardiac rehabilitation is a complex and multicomponent procedure that requires a multidisciplinary approach and includes physical activity promotion, health education, cardiovascular risk management and psychological support, personalized to the individual needs of patients after cardiac surgery. CPET remains the gold standard method for the prescription of optimal aerobic exercise intensity. Recent advances in cardiac rehabilitation have been made during the last decade, including the use of AI, simulation, telemedicine, and virtual cardiac rehabilitation that have improved adherence and compliance, and reduced hospital readmission, with decreased associated healthcare cost. However, new innovations are required in order to increase rates of patients' participation and create ideal individualized protocols for each patient.

#### Kourek C et al. Rehabilitation after cardiac surgery



Figure 1 Components of a cardiac rehabilitation program.

#### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Kourek C and Dimopoulos S contributed to this paper; Dimopoulos S designed the overall concept and outline of the manuscript; Kourek C contributed to the discussion and design of the manuscript; Kourek C and Dimopoulos S contributed to the writing, editing the manuscript, illustrations, and review of literature.

Conflict-of-interest statement: Authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: Greece

ORCID number: Christos Kourek 0000-0003-4348-2153; Stavros Dimopoulos 0000-0003-2199-3788.

S-Editor: Chen YL L-Editor: A P-Editor: Zhang YL

#### REFERENCES

- 1 Corrêa B, Cardoso DM. Functional capacity and mental state of patients undergoing cardiac surgery. Fisioter mov 2017; 30: 805-811 [DOI: 10.1590/1980-5918.030.004.AO16
- Dimopoulos S, Raidou V, Elaiopoulos D, Chatzivasiloglou F, Markantonaki D, Lyberopoulou E, Vasileiadis I, Marathias K, Nanas S, 2 Karabinis A. Sonographic muscle mass assessment in patients after cardiac surgery. World J Cardiol 2020; 12: 351-361 [PMID: 32843937 DOI: 10.4330/wic.v12.i7.3511
- 3 Cordeiro ALL, Mascarenhas HC, Landerson L, Araújo JDS, Borges DL, Melo TA, Guimarães A, Petto J. Inspiratory Muscle Training Based on Anaerobic Threshold on the Functional Capacity of Patients After Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting: Clinical Trial. Braz J Cardiovasc Surg 2020; 35: 942-949 [PMID: 33113311 DOI: 10.21470/1678-9741-2019-0448]
- Westerdahl E, Jonsson M, Emtner M. Pulmonary function and health-related quality of life 1-year follow up after cardiac surgery. J 4 Cardiothorac Surg 2016; 11: 99 [PMID: 27390849 DOI: 10.1186/s13019-016-0491-2]
- Wang YC, Huang CH, Tu YK. Effects of Positive Airway Pressure and Mechanical Ventilation of the Lungs During Cardiopulmonary Bypass 5 on Pulmonary Adverse Events After Cardiac Surgery: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2018; 32: 748-759 [PMID: 29229259 DOI: 10.1053/j.jvca.2017.09.013]
- Kim SH, Cha S, Kang S, Han K, Paik NJ, Kim WS. High prevalence of physical inactivity after heart valve surgery and its association with 6 long-term mortality: A nationwide cohort study. Eur J Prev Cardiol 2021; 28: 749-757 [PMID: 33611453 DOI: 10.1177/2047487320903877]
- Heidenreich PA, Bozkurt B, Aguilar D, Allen LA, Byun JJ, Colvin MM, Deswal A, Drazner MH, Dunlay SM, Evers LR, Fang JC, Fedson SE, 7 Fonarow GC, Hayek SS, Hernandez AF, Khazanie P, Kittleson MM, Lee CS, Link MS, Milano CA, Nnacheta LC, Sandhu AT, Stevenson LW, Vardeny O, Vest AR, Yancy CW. 2022 AHA/ACC/HFSA Guideline for the Management of Heart Failure: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Joint Committee on Clinical Practice Guidelines. Circulation 2022; 145: e895-e1032 [PMID: 35363499 DOI: 10.1161/CIR.0000000000001063]



- McDonagh TA, Metra M, Adamo M, Gardner RS, Baumbach A, Böhm M, Burri H, Butler J, Čelutkienė J, Chioncel O, Cleland JGF, Coats 8 AJS, Crespo-Leiro MG, Farmakis D, Gilard M, Heymans S, Hoes AW, Jaarsma T, Jankowska EA, Lainscak M, Lam CSP, Lyon AR, McMurray JJV, Mebazaa A, Mindham R, Muneretto C, Francesco Piepoli M, Price S, Rosano GMC, Ruschitzka F, Kathrine Skibelund A; ESC Scientific Document Group. 2021 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure. Eur Heart J 2021; 42: 3599-3726 [PMID: 34447992 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehab368]
- Bauer TM, Yaser JM, Daramola T, Mansour AI, Ailawadi G, Pagani FD, Theurer P, Likosky DS, Keteyian SJ, Thompson MP. Cardiac 9 Rehabilitation Reduces 2-Year Mortality After Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting. Ann Thorac Surg 2023; 116: 1099-1105 [PMID: 37392993] DOI: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2023.05.044]
- Kanejima Y, Shimogai T, Kitamura M, Ishihara K, Izawa KP. Effect of Early Mobilization on Physical Function in Patients after Cardiac 10 Surgery: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020; 17 [PMID: 32998202 DOI: 10.3390/ijerph17197091]
- 11 Raidou V, Dimopoulos S, Chatzivasiloglou F, Kourek C, Tsagari V, Pitsolis T, Papadopoulos K, Kriaras I, Tasouli A, Nanas S, Karabinis A. Early mobilization is associated with decreased mechanical ventilation and ICU length of stay following cardiac surgery. Health Res J 2021; 7: 184-193 [DOI: 10.12681/healthresj.28161]
- Chen B, Xie G, Lin Y, Chen L, Lin Z, You X, Xie X, Dong D, Zheng X, Li D, Lin W. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the effects of 12 early mobilization therapy in patients after cardiac surgery. Medicine (Baltimore) 2021; 100: e25314 [PMID: 33847630 DOI: 10.1097/MD.00000000025314]
- Kourek C, Karatzanos E, Nanas S, Karabinis A, Dimopoulos S. Exercise training in heart transplantation. World J Transplant 2021; 11: 466-479 [PMID: 34868897 DOI: 10.5500/wjt.v11.i11.466]
- Kourek C, Nanas S, Kotanidou A, Raidou V, Dimopoulou M, Adamopoulos S, Karabinis A, Dimopoulos S. Modalities of Exercise Training in 14 Patients with Extracorporeal Membrane Oxygenation Support. J Cardiovasc Dev Dis 2022; 9 [PMID: 35200688 DOI: 10.3390/jcdd9020034]
- Chen S, Lester L, Piper GL, Toy B, Saputo M, Chan W, Fischer MG, Gidea C, Kon ZN, Moazami N, Smith DE. Safety and Feasibility of an 15 Early Mobilization Protocol for Patients with Femoral Intra-Aortic Balloon Pumps as Bridge to Heart Transplant. ASAIO J 2022; 68: 714-720 [PMID: 34380951 DOI: 10.1097/MAT.00000000001557]
- Kakutani N, Fukushima A, Kinugawa S, Yokota T, Oikawa T, Nishikawa M, Nakamura R, Tsukada T, Mori S, Yoshida I, Anzai T. 16 Progressive Mobilization Program for Patients With Acute Heart Failure Reduces Hospital Stay and Improves Clinical Outcome. Circ Rep 2019; 1: 123-130 [PMID: 33693126 DOI: 10.1253/circrep.CR-19-0004]
- 17 Semsar-Kazerooni K, Dima D, Valiquette J, Berube-Dufour J, Goldfarb M. Early Mobilization in People With Acute Cardiovascular Disease. Can J Cardiol 2021; 37: 232-240 [PMID: 32739452 DOI: 10.1016/j.cjca.2020.03.038]
- Alaparthi GK, Gatty A, Samuel SR, Amaravadi SK. Effectiveness, Safety, and Barriers to Early Mobilization in the Intensive Care Unit. Crit 18 Care Res Pract 2020; 2020: 7840743 [PMID: 33294221 DOI: 10.1155/2020/7840743]
- Young B, Moyer M, Pino W, Kung D, Zager E, Kumar MA. Safety and Feasibility of Early Mobilization in Patients with Subarachnoid 19 Hemorrhage and External Ventricular Drain. Neurocrit Care 2019; 31: 88-96 [PMID: 30659467 DOI: 10.1007/s12028-019-00670-2]
- Mayer KP, Hornsby AR, Soriano VO, Lin TC, Cunningham JT, Yuan H, Hauschild CE, Morris PE, Neyra JA. Safety, Feasibility, and 20 Efficacy of Early Rehabilitation in Patients Requiring Continuous Renal Replacement: A Quality Improvement Study. Kidney Int Rep 2020; 5: 39-47 [PMID: 31922059 DOI: 10.1016/j.ekir.2019.10.003]
- Sakai Y, Yamamoto S, Karasawa T, Sato M, Nitta K, Okada M, Takeshige K, Ikegami S, Imamura H, Horiuchi H. Effects of early 21 rehabilitation in sepsis patients by a specialized physical therapist in an emergency center on the return to activities of daily living independence: A retrospective cohort study. PLoS One 2022; 17: e0266348 [PMID: 35358285 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0266348]
- Hickmann CE, Castanares-Zapatero D, Deldicque L, Van den Bergh P, Caty G, Robert A, Roeseler J, Francaux M, Laterre PF. Impact of Very 22 Early Physical Therapy During Septic Shock on Skeletal Muscle: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Crit Care Med 2018; 46: 1436-1443 [PMID: 29957714 DOI: 10.1097/CCM.00000000003263]
- Cassina T, Putzu A, Santambrogio L, Villa M, Licker MJ. Hemodynamic challenge to early mobilization after cardiac surgery: A pilot study. 23 Ann Card Anaesth 2016; 19: 425-432 [PMID: 27397446 DOI: 10.4103/0971-9784.185524]
- Malone D, Ridgeway K, Nordon-Craft A, Moss P, Schenkman M, Moss M. Physical Therapist Practice in the Intensive Care Unit: Results of a 24 National Survey. *Phys Ther* 2015; **95**: 1335-1344 [PMID: 26045604 DOI: 10.2522/ptj.20140417]
- 25 Fernández-Costa D, Gómez-Salgado J, Castillejo Del Río A, Borrallo-Riego Á, Guerra-Martín MD. Effects of Prehabilitation on Functional Capacity in Aged Patients Undergoing Cardiothoracic Surgeries: A Systematic Review. Healthcare (Basel) 2021; 9 [PMID: 34828647 DOI: 10.3390/healthcare9111602]
- Kamarajah SK, Bundred J, Weblin J, Tan BHL. Critical appraisal on the impact of preoperative rehabilitation and outcomes after major 26 abdominal and cardiothoracic surgery: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Surgery 2020; 167: 540-549 [PMID: 31548095 DOI: 10.1016/j.surg.2019.07.032
- Steinmetz C, Bjarnason-Wehrens B, Baumgarten H, Walther T, Mengden T, Walther C. Prehabilitation in patients awaiting elective coronary 27 artery bypass graft surgery - effects on functional capacity and quality of life: a randomized controlled trial. Clin Rehabil 2020; 34: 1256-1267 [PMID: 32546065 DOI: 10.1177/0269215520933950]
- Price KJ, Gordon BA, Bird SR, Benson AC. A review of guidelines for cardiac rehabilitation exercise programmes: Is there an international 28 consensus? Eur J Prev Cardiol 2016; 23: 1715-1733 [PMID: 27353128 DOI: 10.1177/2047487316657669]
- 29 Gielen S, Mezzani A, Hambrecht R, Saner H. Cardiac rehabilitation. In: Camm AJ, Lüscher TF, Serruys PW, editors. The ESC Textbook of Cardiovascular Medicine Oxford. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2009: 919-954 [DOI: 10.1093/med/9780199566990.003.025]
- Passantino A, Dalla Vecchia LA, Corrà U, Scalvini S, Pistono M, Bussotti M, Gambarin FI, Scrutinio D, La Rovere MT. The Future of 30 Exercise-Based Cardiac Rehabilitation for Patients With Heart Failure. Front Cardiovasc Med 2021; 8: 709898 [PMID: 34422933 DOI: 10.3389/fcvm.2021.709898]
- Deloitte. Global Mobile Consumer Trends 2017. [cited 8 July 2020]. Available from: https://www2.deloitte.com/il/en/pages/technology-31 media-and-telecommunications/articles/global-mobile-consumer-survey.html
- 32 Lobdell KW, Appoo JJ, Rose GA, Ferguson B, Chatterjee S. Technological advances to enhance recovery after cardiac surgery. J Hosp Manag Health Policy 2021; 5: 30 [DOI: 10.21037/jhmhp-20-114]
- Allyn J, Allou N, Augustin P, Philip I, Martinet O, Belghiti M, Provenchere S, Montravers P, Ferdynus C. A Comparison of a Machine 33 Learning Model with EuroSCORE II in Predicting Mortality after Elective Cardiac Surgery: A Decision Curve Analysis. PLoS One 2017; 12: e0169772 [PMID: 28060903 DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0169772]
- Al'Aref SJ, Anchouche K, Singh G, Slomka PJ, Kolli KK, Kumar A, Pandey M, Maliakal G, van Rosendael AR, Beecy AN, Berman DS, 34



Leipsic J, Nieman K, Andreini D, Pontone G, Schoepf UJ, Shaw LJ, Chang HJ, Narula J, Bax JJ, Guan Y, Min JK. Clinical applications of machine learning in cardiovascular disease and its relevance to cardiac imaging. Eur Heart J 2019; 40: 1975-1986 [PMID: 30060039 DOI: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehy404]

- Retson TA, Besser AH, Sall S, Golden D, Hsiao A. Machine Learning and Deep Neural Networks in Thoracic and Cardiovascular Imaging. J 35 *Thorac Imaging* 2019; **34**: 192-201 [PMID: 31009397 DOI: 10.1097/RTI.00000000000385]
- Alsharqi M, Woodward WJ, Mumith JA, Markham DC, Upton R, Leeson P. Artificial intelligence and echocardiography. Echo Res Pract 36 2018; 5: R115-R125 [PMID: 30400053 DOI: 10.1530/ERP-18-0056]
- Arafati A, Hu P, Finn JP, Rickers C, Cheng AL, Jafarkhani H, Kheradvar A. Artificial intelligence in pediatric and adult congenital cardiac 37 MRI: an unmet clinical need. Cardiovasc Diagn Ther 2019; 9: S310-S325 [PMID: 31737539 DOI: 10.21037/cdt.2019.06.09]
- Lear SA, Singer J, Banner-Lukaris D, Horvat D, Park JE, Bates J, Ignaszewski A. Randomized trial of a virtual cardiac rehabilitation program 38 delivered at a distance via the Internet. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes 2014; 7: 952-959 [PMID: 25271050 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.114.001230]
- Kaiser Permanente. Cardiac Rehabilitation: Outpatient Program. 2020. [cited 9 July 2020]. Available from: https://healthy.kaiserpermanente. 39 org/health-wellness/health-encyclopedia/he.cardiac-rehabilitation-outpatient-program.hw230413
- Beatty AL, Beckie TM, Dodson J, Goldstein CM, Hughes JW, Kraus WE, Martin SS, Olson TP, Pack QR, Stolp H, Thomas RJ, Wu WC, 40 Franklin BA. A New Era in Cardiac Rehabilitation Delivery: Research Gaps, Questions, Strategies, and Priorities. Circulation 2023; 147: 254-266 [PMID: 36649394 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.122.061046]



WJC

# World Journal of *Cardiology*

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2024 February 26; 16(2): 73-79

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v16.i2.73

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

MINIREVIEWS

## Seeing beneath the surface: Harnessing point-of-care ultrasound for internal jugular vein evaluation

Vichayut Chayapinun, Abhilash Koratala, Taweevat Assavapokee

**Specialty type:** Medicine, general and internal

**Provenance and peer review:** Invited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Uz Zaman M, Pakistan

Received: December 20, 2023 Peer-review started: December 20, 2023 First decision: January 11, 2024 Revised: January 16, 2024 Accepted: February 1, 2024 Article in press: February 1, 2024 Published online: February 26, 2024



Vichayut Chayapinun, Taweevat Assavapokee, Department of Medicine, Faculty of Medicine Ramathibodi Hospital, Mahidol University, Bangkok 10400, Thailand

Abhilash Koratala, Division of Nephrology, Medical College of Wisconsin, Wauwatosa, WI 53226, United States

**Corresponding author:** Abhilash Koratala, MD, Associate Professor, Division of Nephrology, Medical College of Wisconsin, 8701 W Watertown Plank Road, HUB 7<sup>th</sup> Floor, Wauwatosa, WI 53226, United States. koratala.abhi@gmail.com

#### Abstract

Point-of-care ultrasound (POCUS) of the internal jugular vein (IJV) offers a noninvasive means of estimating right atrial pressure (RAP), especially in cases where the inferior vena cava is inaccessible or unreliable due to conditions such as liver disease or abdominal surgery. While many clinicians are familiar with visually assessing jugular venous pressure through the internal jugular vein, this method lacks sensitivity. The utilization of POCUS significantly enhances the visualization of the vein, leading to a more accurate identification. It has been demonstrated that combining IJV POCUS with physical examination enhances the specificity of RAP estimation. This review aims to provide a comprehensive summary of the various sonographic techniques available for estimating RAP from the internal jugular vein, drawing upon existing data.

**Key Words:** Point-of-care ultrasound; Bedside ultrasound; Internal jugular vein; Right atrial pressure; Central venous pressure

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** Point of care ultrasound of the internal jugular vein serves as a non-invasive tool to evaluate right atrial pressure. This is particularly useful when neck vein inspection is challenging, or inferior vena cava sonography lacks reliability. When combined with the physical examination and other sonographic parameters, it becomes a valuable component of bedside hemodynamic evaluation.

Zaishidena® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

**Citation**: Chayapinun V, Koratala A, Assavapokee T. Seeing beneath the surface: Harnessing point-of-care ultrasound for internal jugular vein evaluation. *World J Cardiol* 2024; 16(2): 73-79 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v16/i2/73.htm **DOI**: https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v16.i2.73

#### INTRODUCTION

An accurate assessment of hemodynamic status at the bedside is of utmost importance in guiding proper management through altering blood volume and cardiac output, especially in critically ill patients. Central venous pressure (CVP) is a physiologic parameter that is used to assess cardiac preload within this evaluation. CVP is identical to right atrial pressure (RAP) in the absence of vena caval obstruction, and these terms are often used interchangeably. Assessing CVP clinically by performing a neck veins examination can be challenging at times and yield low sensitivity, especially in the elderly, obese, and short-necked patients[1-4]. The gold standard for measuring CVP is via inserting a central venous catheter (CVC) into the superior vena cava, however, this method is invasive, time-consuming, and can cause serious complications<sup>[4-6]</sup>. With the help of point-of-care ultrasound (POCUS), RAP can be non-invasively measured through various methods including using compression ultrasound on the forearm vein[7], evaluation of the inferior vena cava (IVC), and evaluation of the internal jugular vein (IJV). The most common method is the evaluation of IVC diameter and collapsibility[8,9] (Figure 1). However, the association between IVC parameters and RAP is moderate and lacks reliability in mechanically ventilated individuals or those with abdominal compartment syndrome<sup>[10]</sup>. Moreover, imaging the IVC can be challenging in situations like morbidly obese individuals, those unable to recline, patients with cirrhosis, ascites, or those who have undergone recent abdominal surgery[11]. Owing to its location and convenient accessibility, IJV POCUS presents a viable alternative in such instances. Unlike visual inspection, where identifying the vein can be difficult in many cases, POCUS makes the IJV easily visible, saving time for physicians and improving the accuracy of the examination[12,13].



IVC diameter (cm)	% Collapse with a sniff	Estimated RAP (mmHg)
<u>&lt;</u> 2.1	>50	3 (0-5)
>2.1	<50	15 (10-20)
<u>&lt;</u> 2.1	<50	8 (5-10)
>2.1	>50	8 (5-10)

Figure 1 Estimation of right atrial pressure by inferior vena cava ultrasound in spontaneously breathing patients, based on current guidelines[8]. IVC: Inferior vena cava; RA: Right atrium; HV: Hepatic vein; RAP: Rright atrial pressure.

#### SONOGRAPHIC METHODS OF IJV ASSESSMENT

Multiple techniques have been described to assess CVP by IJV ultrasound. Based on available data, these methods encompass measuring the vertical height of the blood column in the IJV[13-16], utilizing the IJV height-to-width ratio (aspect ratio)[17,18], IJV collapsibility index (IJV-CI)[13,17,19-22], IJV distensibility index[23], measuring the maximal anteroposterior diameter of the IJV (AP-IJV Dmax)[18,24], calculating the difference in the percentage of the IJV cross-sectional area (IJV-CSA) or diameter before and after the Valsalva maneuver[25,26], and combining IJV vertical height with right atrial depth measured with echocardiography[27,28].

The first technique, pioneered by Lipton[14], uses POCUS to visualize the height of the blood column in the IJV above the sternal angle of Louis where a venous collapse is seen (the 'wine bottle' or 'paint brush' appearance), thereby being able to measure the height of the IJV more accurately than compared to only performing neck veins examination (Figure 2). The height is then added to the hypothesized right atrial depth below the sternum of 5 cm to calculate the RAP, abiding by the doctrine of Sir Thomas Lewis, who first proposed the use of neck veins examination in 1930. This method's accuracy is questionable, owing to the presumed right atrial depth of 5 cm, which is proven to be inaccurate[27, 29]. In a study by Deol *et al*[30] ultrasound-assisted assessment of the column height underestimated CVP by 4.7 cm H<sub>2</sub>O, whereas visual inspection underestimated it by 6.1 cm H<sub>2</sub>O. Moreover, this approach can be time consuming as it requires two tools to assess the height of the column from the sternal angle (*e.g.*, two rulers, a pen and a ruler, or a tongue depressor and a ruler or tape, commonly employed by physicians at the bedside), further compromising measurement



Figure 2 Internal jugular vein collapse point compared to a wine bottle and paint brush. Figures adapted from NephroPOCUS.com with permission.



Figure 3 Anteroposterior diameter of the internal jugular vein. M-mode tracing depicts respiratory variation in the diameter.

#### accuracy[31].

The second technique uses the height-to-width ratio (aspect ratio) to estimate the CVP as a binary variable (*e.g.*, </>10 mmHg), without precisely quantifying it. The transducer is positioned at the level of the cricoid cartilage in the transverse plane, then the height (anteroposterior diameter) and the width (transverse diameter) are measured to obtain the aspect ratio. A ratio of < 0.75 has shown to correlate with RAP of < 10 mmHg with a sensitivity and specificity of 62% and 67% respectively in one study[17]. This method yields mixed results, and its utility is currently not well-demonstrated[18].

The third technique uses the collapsibility index of IJV (IJV-CI) to estimate RAP. The IJV-CI is calculated by its respiratory variation, (IJVmax – IJVmin)/IJVmax expressed in percentage (Figure 3). The actual RAP cannot be quantified, but studies[13,21,22] have shown that an IJV-CI of approximately  $\leq$  30% signifies an elevated CVP of  $\geq$  8 mmHg, demonstrating good sensitivity and specificity. Worthy of particular mention, in a study by Leal-villarreal *et al* [21] in patients with cirrhosis, IJV-CI (anteroposterior diameter 2 cm above the sternoclavicular joint)  $\leq$  24.8% was better at predicting a CVP  $\geq$  8 mmHg with 100% sensitivity and 97.1% specificity outperforming IVC POCUS. In this cohort, IVC POCUS was unattainable in 18% of the cases correlating with our real-life experience in cirrhotic patients.

The fourth technique uses the IJV distensibility index to predict the fluid responsiveness in patients undergoing mechanical ventilation. IJV is imaged at the cricoid cartilage level in the transverse plane and the distensibility index is calculated by (IJVmax – IJVmin)/IJVmin, expressed in percentage. In one study, an IJV distensibility index of > 18% before volume challenge (7 mL/kg crystalloid) had an 80% sensitivity and 85% specificity to predict fluid responsiveness [23]. While this technique does not quantify the RAP, it could be a valuable adjunct to other hemodynamic parameters in assessing fluid status in mechanically ventilated patients.

The fifth technique uses the IJV maximal anteroposterior diameter (AP-IJV Dmax) to predict the RAP whether it is low (< 8 mmHg) or high. Similar to the second technique of acquiring the aspect ratio, the transducer is positioned transversely 2 cm above the clavicle, at end-expiration and the diameter is collected to correlate with RAP. It has been shown that AP-IJV Dmax has the best correlation with RAP, the best validity in predicting its values, and a very good inter-rater reliability[24] along with its accuracy in predicting low RAP of < 8 mmHg[18].

The sixth technique uses the difference in the percentage of the IJV cross-sectional area (IJV-CSA) before and after the Valsalva maneuver to assess for RAP. The Valsalva maneuver increases the IJV-CSA by about 20%-30% in patients with normal RAP, and it is assumed that in volume-overloaded patients with a decrease in venous compliance, the increase in IJV-CSA will be blunted. This technique measures the patient's IJV-CSA at the vertical column height where a venous collapse is seen and re-measures that same parameter while the patient performs the Valsalva maneuver, then calculates

Zaishidena® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

#### Chayapinun V et al. IJ vein POCUS



Figure 4 Increase in the size of internal jugular vein with Valsalva maneuver by several folds in a spontaneously breathing person with normal right atrial pressure.



Figure 5 Minimal increase in the size of internal jugular vein with Valsalva maneuver in a spontaneously breathing heart failure patient with elevated right atrial pressure.

the difference in the percentage of the IJV-CSA (Figures 4 and 5). One study[25] found that a < 17% increase in IJV-CSA with Valsalva predicted elevated RAP ( $\geq$  12 mmHg) with 90% sensitivity, 74% specificity, and a 94% negative predictive value. Alternatively, the ratio between maximum IJV diameter during Valsalva maneuver and diameter at rest (JVD ratio) < 4 has also shown to predict elevated RAP[26].

Another recently described technique uses the IJV vertical height combined with right atrial depth measured with echocardiography to quantify the RAP. While similar to the first technique in principle, this approach enhances accuracy by directly measuring the right atrial depth instead of relying on the assumed 5 cm. It involves marking the highest point of the venous collapse (wine bottle sign) and then performing a focused cardiac ultrasound to visualize the heart in long axis (parasternal long axis view). Right atrial depth is measured from the surface to the location of the non-coronary cusp of the aortic valve attachment to the posterior left ventricular outflow tract (Figure 6). The two parameters, the column height, and the right atrial depth, are then added together for an estimation of the RAP in cm  $H_2O$ , later converted to mmHg. This method predicted actual RAP within 3 mmHg 74% of the time when compared to cardiac catheterization-derived value[27].

In an alternative technique described by Xing *et al*[28], the initial step of measuring the height of collapse point is the same but the right atrial depth is calculated using an adjusted apical 4-chamber view with the right atrium in the center of the view, where distance between the transducer contact point and the center of the right atrium is recorded. A pencil and a ruler are then used in relation to the transducer to derive the surface projection of the center of the right atrium. The RAP is then estimated by adding the IJV column height to the right atrial depth. This technique demonstrates a substantial correlation and high accuracy, with a mean difference of 0.22 mmHg in RAP compared to CVC. Nevertheless, it lacks practicality in a clinical setting where swift assessment is essential, as it involves multiple operators and the use of various measuring instruments.

With respect to estimation of RAP using IJV POCUS in mechanically ventilated patients, there is limited data. One noteworthy study is by Hilbert *et al*[32] in a cohort of 47 patients, where they evaluated the ratio between IJV diameter in the 30° and 0° head position (30/0 ratio). A 30/0 ratio of < 0.45 indicated a low CVP, whereas a cutoff of > 0.65 predicted a CVP  $\ge$  10 mmHg with reasonable accuracy.

Raishideng® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 6 Measurement of right atrial depth using parasternal long axis view on focused cardiac ultrasound. RVOT: Right ventricular outflow tract; LV: Left ventricle; LVOT: LV outflow tract; LA: Left atrium; NCC: Non-coronary cusp of aortic valve.



Figure 7 Diagnostic algorithm in a case of cirrhosis and suspected hemodynamic acute kidney injury. Incorrect angle of insonation is a frequent source of error when assessing LVOT VTI (surrogate for stroke volume) and other Doppler measurements listed. Adapted from Ref. 33 with kind permission of the publisher (corresponding author's prior open access publication). Blue boxes: Right heart; Red boxes: Left heart-related sonographic parameters; Green outlines: Volume tolerance phenotype; Orange outlines: Volume intolerance. POCUS: Point-of-care ultrasonography; VTI: Velocity time integral; E/e': Ratio of the early diastolic waves of the mitral inflow Doppler and mitral annular tissue Doppler; LA: Left atrium; RV: Right ventricle; RVSP: Right ventricular systolic pressure; TAPSE: Tricuspid annular plane systolic excursion; S': Tricuspid annular systolic velocity; SVC: Superior vena cava; ARDS: Acute respiratory distress syndrome; HV: Hepatic vein; PV: Portal vein.

#### CONCLUSION

In essence, IJV POCUS serves as a quick, non-invasive bedside tool for assessing RAP. However, the diversity in techniques requires cautious interpretation, avoiding overestimation of accuracy. Interpretation of IJV POCUS in the appropriate clinical context is crucial. Additionally, CVP is not a surrogate for volume status but just one component in bedside hemodynamic assessment, to be considered alongside other variables. For instance, Figure 7 presents an algorithm for hemodynamic assessment in cirrhotic patients with acute kidney injury, utilizing IJV for fluid tolerance assessment[33]. Future research should compare various techniques in different clinical settings to establish a standardized, practical method for routine use.



Zaishideng® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

#### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Chayapinun V drafted the initial version of the manuscript; Assavapokee T and Koratala A have designed the manuscript; Assavapokee T and Koratala A have revised the manuscript for critical intellectual content.

Conflict-of-interest statement: All authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: United States

ORCID number: Abhilash Koratala 0000-0001-5801-3574.

S-Editor: Gong ZM L-Editor: A P-Editor: Zhao S

#### REFERENCES

- 1 Assavapokee T, Thadanipon K. Examination of the Neck Veins. N Engl J Med 2020; 383: e132 [PMID: 33296562 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMvcm1806474]
- Jang T, Aubin C, Naunheim R, Char D. Ultrasonography of the internal jugular vein in patients with dyspnea without jugular venous distention 2 on physical examination. Ann Emerg Med 2004; 44: 160-168 [PMID: 15278091 DOI: 10.1016/j.annemergmed.2004.03.014]
- Donahue SP, Wood JP, Patel BM, Quinn JV. Correlation of sonographic measurements of the internal jugular vein with central venous 3 pressure. Am J Emerg Med 2009; 27: 851-855 [PMID: 19683116 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajem.2008.06.005]
- Baumann UA, Marquis C, Stoupis C, Willenberg TA, Takala J, Jakob SM. Estimation of central venous pressure by ultrasound. Resuscitation 4 2005; 64: 193-199 [PMID: 15680529 DOI: 10.1016/j.resuscitation.2004.08.015]
- Parienti JJ, Mongardon N, Mégarbane B, Mira JP, Kalfon P, Gros A, Marqué S, Thuong M, Pottier V, Ramakers M, Savary B, Seguin A, 5 Valette X, Terzi N, Sauneuf B, Cattoir V, Mermel LA, du Cheyron D; 3SITES Study Group. Intravascular Complications of Central Venous Catheterization by Insertion Site. N Engl J Med 2015; 373: 1220-1229 [PMID: 26398070 DOI: 10.1056/NEJMoa1500964]
- Kusminsky RE. Complications of central venous catheterization. J Am Coll Surg 2007; 204: 681-696 [PMID: 17382229 DOI: 6 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2007.01.039]
- Thalhammer C, Aschwanden M, Odermatt A, Baumann UA, Imfeld S, Bilecen D, Marsch SC, Jaeger KA. Noninvasive central venous 7 pressure measurement by controlled compression sonography at the forearm. J Am Coll Cardiol 2007; 50: 1584-1589 [PMID: 17936158 DOI: 10.1016/i.jacc.2007.07.022]
- Rudski LG, Lai WW, Afilalo J, Hua L, Handschumacher MD, Chandrasekaran K, Solomon SD, Louie EK, Schiller NB. Guidelines for the 8 echocardiographic assessment of the right heart in adults: a report from the American Society of Echocardiography endorsed by the European Association of Echocardiography, a registered branch of the European Society of Cardiology, and the Canadian Society of Echocardiography. J Am Soc Echocardiogr 2010; 23: 685-713; quiz 786 [PMID: 20620859 DOI: 10.1016/j.echo.2010.05.010]
- 9 Dipti A, Soucy Z, Surana A, Chandra S. Role of inferior vena cava diameter in assessment of volume status: a meta-analysis. Am J Emerg Med 2012; 30: 1414-1419.e1 [PMID: 22221934 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajem.2011.10.017]
- Ciozda W, Kedan I, Kehl DW, Zimmer R, Khandwalla R, Kimchi A. The efficacy of sonographic measurement of inferior vena cava diameter 10 as an estimate of central venous pressure. Cardiovasc Ultrasound 2016; 14: 33 [PMID: 27542597 DOI: 10.1186/s12947-016-0076-1]
- 11 Koratala A, Kazory A. Point of Care Ultrasonography for Objective Assessment of Heart Failure: Integration of Cardiac, Vascular, and Extravascular Determinants of Volume Status. Cardiorenal Med 2021; 11: 5-17 [PMID: 33477143 DOI: 10.1159/000510732]
- 12 Davison R, Cannon R. Estimation of central venous pressure by examination of jugular veins. Am Heart J 1974; 87: 279-282 [PMID: 4812363 DOI: 10.1016/0002-8703(74)90064-71
- Nik Muhamad NA, Safferi RS, Robertson CE. Internal Jugular Vein Height and Inferior Vena Cava Diameter Measurement using Ultrasound 13 to Determine Central Venous Pressure: A Correlation Study. Med J Malaysia 2015; 70: 63-66 [PMID: 26162379]
- Lipton B. Estimation of central venous pressure by ultrasound of the internal jugular vein. Am J Emerg Med 2000; 18: 432-434 [PMID: 14 10919533 DOI: 10.1053/ajem.2000.7335]
- Siva B, Hunt A, Boudville N. The sensitivity and specificity of ultrasound estimation of central venous pressure using the internal jugular vein. 15 J Crit Care 2012; 27: 315.e7-315.11 [PMID: 22137379 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcrc.2011.09.008]
- Jenkins S, Knowles P, Briffa N. Portable ultrasound assessment of jugular venous pressure is an accurate method for estimating volaemic 16 status in patients with cardiac disease. J Ultrasound 2022; 25: 939-947 [PMID: 35292924 DOI: 10.1007/s40477-022-00654-7]
- 17 Prekker ME, Scott NL, Hart D, Sprenkle MD, Leatherman JW. Point-of-care ultrasound to estimate central venous pressure: a comparison of three techniques. Crit Care Med 2013; 41: 833-841 [PMID: 23318493 DOI: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e31827466b7]
- Parenti N, Bastiani L, Tripolino C, Bacchilega I. Ultrasound imaging and central venous pressure in spontaneously breathing patients: a 18 comparison of ultrasound-based measures of internal jugular vein and inferior vena cava. Anaesthesiol Intensive Ther 2022; 54: 150-155 [PMID: 35416439 DOI: 10.5114/ait.2022.114469]
- Unluer EE, Kara PH. Ultrasonography of jugular vein as a marker of hypovolemia in healthy volunteers. Am J Emerg Med 2013; 31: 173-177 19 [PMID: 22980368 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajem.2012.07.003]
- Wang MK, Piticaru J, Kappel C, Mikhaeil M, Mbuagbaw L, Rochwerg B. Internal jugular vein ultrasound for the diagnosis of hypovolemia 20



and hypervolemia in acutely ill adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Intern Emerg Med 2022; 17: 1521-1532 [PMID: 35718838 DOI: 10.1007/s11739-022-03003-v]

- Leal-Villarreal MAJ, Aguirre-Villarreal D, Vidal-Mayo JJ, Argaiz ER, García-Juárez I. Correlation of Internal Jugular Vein Collapsibility 21 With Central Venous Pressure in Patients With Liver Cirrhosis. Am J Gastroenterol 2023; 118: 1684-1687 [PMID: 37146133 DOI: 10.14309/ajg.000000000002315]
- Vaidya GN, Kolodziej A, Stoner B, Galaviz JV, Cao X, Heier K, Thompson M, Birks E, Campbell K. Bedside ultrasound of the internal 22 jugular vein to assess fluid status and right ventricular function: The POCUS-JVD study. Am J Emerg Med 2023; 70: 151-156 [PMID: 37307660 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajem.2023.05.042]
- 23 Guarracino F, Ferro B, Forfori F, Bertini P, Magliacano L, Pinsky MR. Jugular vein distensibility predicts fluid responsiveness in septic patients. Crit Care 2014; 18: 647 [PMID: 25475099 DOI: 10.1186/s13054-014-0647-1]
- Parenti N, Scalese M, Palazzi C, Agrusta F, Cahill J, Agnelli G. Role of Internal Jugular Vein Ultrasound Measurements in the Assessment of 24 Central Venous Pressure in Spontaneously Breathing Patients: A Systematic Review. J Acute Med 2019; 9: 39-48 [PMID: 32995230 DOI: 10.6705/j.jacme.201906\_9(2).0001]
- Simon MA, Kliner DE, Girod JP, Moguillansky D, Villanueva FS, Pacella JJ. Detection of elevated right atrial pressure using a simple bedside 25 ultrasound measure. Am Heart J 2010; 159: 421-427 [PMID: 20211304 DOI: 10.1016/j.ahj.2010.01.004]
- Pellicori P, Shah P, Cuthbert J, Urbinati A, Zhang J, Kallvikbacka-Bennett A, Clark AL, Cleland JGF. Prevalence, pattern and clinical 26 relevance of ultrasound indices of congestion in outpatients with heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail 2019; 21: 904-916 [PMID: 30666769 DOI: 10.1002/ejhf.1383]
- 27 Istrail L, Kiernan J, Stepanova M. A Novel Method for Estimating Right Atrial Pressure With Point-of-Care Ultrasound. J Am Soc Echocardiogr 2023; 36: 278-283 [PMID: 36521834 DOI: 10.1016/j.echo.2022.12.008]
- Xing CY, Liu YL, Zhao ML, Yang RJ, Duan YY, Zhang LH, Sun XD, Yuan LJ, Cao TS. New method for noninvasive quantification of 28 central venous pressure by ultrasound. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging 2015; 8: e003085 [PMID: 25904575 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCIMAGING.114.003085]
- Kovacs G, Avian A, Olschewski A, Olschewski H. Zero reference level for right heart catheterisation. Eur Respir J 2013; 42: 1586-1594 29 [PMID: 23794468 DOI: 10.1183/09031936.00050713]
- Deol GR, Collett N, Ashby A, Schmidt GA. Ultrasound accurately reflects the jugular venous examination but underestimates central venous 30 pressure. Chest 2011; 139: 95-100 [PMID: 20798190 DOI: 10.1378/chest.10-1301]
- 31 Mondal H, Mondal S, Das D, Alam N, Saha K. Reliability of a Jugular Venous Pressure Scale in Cardiovascular Clinical Examination. J Clin Prev Cardiol 2020; 9: 61-66 [DOI: 10.4103/jcpc.jcpc 4 20]
- Hilbert T, Ellerkmann RK, Klaschik S, Putensen C, Thudium M. The Use of Internal Jugular Vein Ultrasonography to Anticipate Low or High 32 Central Venous Pressure During Mechanical Ventilation. J Emerg Med 2016; 50: 581-587 [PMID: 26806319 DOI: 10.1016/j.jemermed.2015.11.033]
- Koratala A, Reisinger N. Point of Care Ultrasound in Cirrhosis-Associated Acute Kidney Injury: Beyond Inferior Vena Cava. Kidney360 33 2022; **3**: 1965-1968 [PMID: 36514396 DOI: 10.34067/KID.0005522022]



WJC

## World Journal of Cardiology

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2024 February 26; 16(2): 80-91

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v16.i2.80

ISSN 1949-8462 (online) ORIGINAL ARTICLE

**Retrospective Cohort Study** 

### Development and validation of a nomogram model for predicting the risk of pre-hospital delay in patients with acute myocardial infarction

#### Jiao-Yu Cao, Li-Xiang Zhang, Xiao-Juan Zhou

Specialty type: Cardiac and cardiovascular systems

#### Provenance and peer review:

Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): B Grade C (Good): 0 Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: Bloomfield D, United States

Received: October 10, 2023 Peer-review started: October 10. 2023 First decision: December 18, 2023 Revised: January 2, 2024 Accepted: February 2, 2024 Article in press: February 2, 2024 Published online: February 26, 2024



Jiao-Yu Cao, Li-Xiang Zhang, Xiao-Juan Zhou, Department of Cardiology, The First Affiliated Hospital of USTC, Division of Life Science and Medicine, University of Science and Technology of China, Hefei 230001, Anhui Province, China

Corresponding author: Jiao-Yu Cao, MMed, Chief Nurse, Department of Cardiology, The First Affiliated Hospital of USTC, Division of Life Science and Medicine, University of Science and Technology of China, No. 1 Swan Lake Road, Hefei 230001, Anhui Province, China. caojiaoyu@126.com

#### Abstract

#### BACKGROUND

Acute myocardial infarction (AMI) is a severe cardiovascular disease caused by the blockage of coronary arteries that leads to ischemic necrosis of the myocardium. Timely medical contact is critical for successful AMI treatment, and delays increase the risk of death for patients. Pre-hospital delay time (PDT) is a significant challenge for reducing treatment times, as identifying high-risk patients with AMI remains difficult. This study aims to construct a risk prediction model to identify high-risk patients and develop targeted strategies for effective and prompt care, ultimately reducing PDT and improving treatment outcomes.

#### AIM

To construct a nomogram model for forecasting pre-hospital delay (PHD) likelihood in patients with AMI and to assess the precision of the nomogram model in predicting PHD risk.

#### **METHODS**

A retrospective cohort design was employed to investigate predictive factors for PHD in patients with AMI diagnosed between January 2022 and September 2022. The study included 252 patients, with 180 randomly assigned to the development group and the remaining 72 to the validation group in a 7:3 ratio. Independent risk factors influencing PHD were identified in the development group, leading to the establishment of a nomogram model for predicting PHD in patients with AMI. The model's predictive performance was evaluated using the receiver operating characteristic curve in both the development and validation groups.

#### RESULTS

Independent risk factors for PHD in patients with AMI included living alone, hyperlipidemia, age, diabetes mellitus, and digestive system diseases (P < 0.05). A



nomogram model incorporating these five predictors accurately predicted PHD occurrence. The receiver operating characteristic curve analysis indicated area under the receiver operating characteristic curve values of 0.787 (95% confidence interval: 0.716–0.858) and 0.770 (95% confidence interval: 0.660-0.879) in the development and validation groups, respectively, demonstrating the model's good discriminatory ability. The Hosmer–Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test revealed no statistically significant disparity between the anticipated and observed incidence of PHD in both development and validation cohorts (P > 0.05), indicating satisfactory model calibration.

#### CONCLUSION

The nomogram model, developed with independent risk factors, accurately forecasts PHD likelihood in AMI individuals, enabling efficient identification of PHD risk in these patients.

Key Words: Pre-hospital delay; Acute myocardial infarction; Risk prediction; Nomogram

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

**Core Tip:** The study developed a nomogram model to predict pre-hospital delay (PHD) in acute myocardial infarction (AMI) patients. Independent risk factors for PHD were identified, and a nomogram was constructed using these predictors. The model showed good discriminatory ability and satisfactory calibration. This nomogram can effectively identify PHD risk in AMI patients.

Citation: Cao JY, Zhang LX, Zhou XJ. Development and validation of a nomogram model for predicting the risk of pre-hospital delay in patients with acute myocardial infarction. *World J Cardiol* 2024; 16(2): 80-91 URL: https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v16/i2/80.htm DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v16.i2.80

#### INTRODUCTION

Acute myocardial infarction (AMI), a cardiovascular condition often stemming from coronary artery disease, arises when the abrupt blockage of the coronary artery disrupts blood circulation, leading to localized myocardial ischemic necrosis. Existing research underscores the critical impact of timely medical contact, revealing that every hour of delay increases the risk of death in patients with AMI by approximately 10%[1]. Swift restoration of blood flow in the infarct-related artery is pivotal for effective AMI treatment, with the efficacy of infarct-related artery recanalization treatment being significantly time-dependent. The shorter the duration between AMI onset and treatment, the more favorable the therapeutic outcomes[2].

The temporal aspect of AMI treatment encompasses pre-hospital delay time (PDT) and in-hospital delay time[3,4]. While measures such as optimizing hospital emergency procedures and establishing green channels have successfully reduced in-hospital delay time[5], PDT remains a challenge due to various influencing factors. Creating a universally applicable treatment protocol to minimize PDT proves challenging, given the diverse circumstances. Treating all patients with pre-hospital AMI with efficient measures poses a logistical challenge, potentially straining first aid resources and impacting the treatment of other emergency cases.

Therefore, the crux of shortening PDT lies in the identification of high-risk patients with AMI and the swift implementation of emergency measures[6]. This study aims to delve into the determinants of pre-hospital delay (PHD) in patients with AMI, with a specific focus on constructing a robust risk prediction model. The ultimate objective was to gain insights and leverage them for devising targeted and efficient strategies to mitigate PDT in patients with AMI, ensuring prompt and effective care.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Research objects

This retrospective cohort study spanned from January 2022 to September 2022 and focused on patients with AMI admitted to a tertiary hospital in Anhui Province, China. The inclusion criteria mandated that patients were transported by ambulance and diagnosed with AMI based on clinical symptoms, electrocardiogram, and myocardial enzyme dynamic observation. The exclusion criteria comprised patients with missing data or mental disorders. The study received approval from the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of the research institution (ID: 2023-RE-124), and due to its retrospective nature, informed consent requirements were exempted by the IRB.

Zaishideng® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com
#### Data collection methods

Data encompassed diverse factors such as age, sex, coronary artery lesions, Killip classification, family monthly income, body mass index, stent count, comorbidities (hypertension, cerebral infarction, hyperlipidemia, diabetes, renal insufficiency, digestive system diseases), Timi classification, medical expenses payment method, history of AMI, onset time (daytime: 8:00-17:00, nighttime: 17:01-07:59), living arrangements, work status, heart failure, education level, marital status, alcohol consumption, smoking, atrial fibrillation-totaling 26 indicators. Predefined as the interval from myocardial infarction symptom onset to seeking medical care, PDT was set at 6 h, a threshold for thrombolytic therapy [7]. Thus, patients were categorized into two groups: PDT  $\leq 6$  h (non-PHD) and PDT > 6 h (PHD).

#### Statistical analysis

Data analysis utilized Epidata 3.1 and SPSS 23.0. Quantitative variables with normal distribution were presented as mean ± standard deviation; non-normally distributed variables were denoted as M(P25, P75), signifying the median value alongside the 25th and 75th percentiles. Counting data were expressed as case numbers and percentages. Independent risk factors influencing PHD were identified through univariate and multivariate logistic regression analysis. The nomogram model was constructed using R software (version 4.0.1), and its predictive efficacy was assessed using the receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve. The degree of calibration of the nomogram model was evaluated through calibration curve and Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit tests. Clinical applicability was assessed through decision curve analysis (DCA). P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

#### RESULTS

#### Comparison of population characteristics between development and validation groups

Out of the total 252 patients with AMI, 84 (33.33%) experienced PHD. The study population was randomly divided into a development group (n = 180) and a validation group (n = 72) in a 7:3 ratio. Upon comparing demographic and clinical characteristics between the two groups, no statistically significant disparities were observed (P > 0.05), between both groups, indicating homogeneity (Table 1).

#### Univariate and multivariate analysis of PHD risk in patients with AMI

In the development group, univariate and multivariate Logistic regression methods were employed to identify risk factors associated with post-hospital discharge (PHD) in patients with AMI. Univariate analysis revealed significant associations (P < 0.05) with PHD for variables like living alone, nighttime onset, combined hypertension and hyperlipidemia, urban residence, age, combined diabetes, smoking, combined digestive system diseases, and female sex. Multivariate analysis identified living alone, hyperlipidemia, advancing age, diabetes, and digestive system diseases as independent risk factors for PHD in patients with AMI (P < 0.05), as detailed in Table 2.

#### Development of nomogram prediction model for PHD risk in patients with AMI

Construction of the nomogram prediction model for PHD risk in the development group involved utilizing the "rms" package in R software. Five predictors were identified through multivariate Logistic regression analysis, as depicted in Figure 1. The nomogram developed in this study is a valuable tool for assessing the risk of PHD in patients with AMI. The interpretation of the nomogram involves a systematic process. Each indicator in the nomogram corresponds to a specific vertical line that ascends from the respective score on the horizontal axis labeled "Points." Along each indicator's line, a specific score is assigned based on the patient's characteristics. Four specific scores from different indicators are added together to calculate the total score.

The total score is located on the horizontal axis labeled "Total Points." A vertical line is drawn downward from the total score to intersect with the axis labeled "Risk of Pre-hospital Delay." The value corresponding to the intersection point indicates the estimated risk of pre-hospital delay for the patient. As an example, consider a 65-year-old patient with the following scores: age (65 years): 60 points, hyperlipidemia: 27.5 points, digestive system diseases: 35 points, living with family (not living alone): 0 points. The total score for this patient would be 122.5 points. Locating 122.5 points on the "Total Points" axis and drawing a line downward intersects with the "Risk of Pre-hospital Delay" axis. The corresponding value on the "Risk of Pre-hospital Delay" axis (e.g., 0.67 points) indicates the estimated risk of pre-hospital delay for this patient.

#### ROC curve analysis of the nomogram model

To evaluate the discrimination performance, the nomogram model's area under the ROC curve was calculated. In the development group, the area under the ROC curve was 0.787 (95% confidence interval: 0.716-0.858), and in the validation group, it was 0.770 (95% confidence interval: 0.660-0.879). These results signify favorable discrimination, as illustrated in Figure 2.

#### Calibration curve analysis of the nomogram model

The calibration curve and the Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness of fit test were used to assess the calibration degree of the nomogram model. The results from the Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness of fit test indicated no statistically significant deviation between the predicted probability of PHD from the nomogram model and the actual occurrence in both the development and validation groups (P > 0.05). This implies that the nomogram model exhibits favorable calibration, as



WJC https://www.wjgnet.com

ble 1 Comparison of related data between development group and validation group, <i>n</i> (%)					
Variable	Category	Total	Development group	Validation group	<i>P</i> valu
n		252	180	72	
Sex (%)	Male	197 (78.2)	142 (78.9)	55 (76.4)	0.664
	Female	55 (21.8)	38 (21.1)	17 (23.6)	
Age, mean (SD)		61.09 (14.55)	60.94 (14.82)	61.46 (13.94)	0.798
Killip grade (%)	1	195 (77.4)	141 (78.3)	54 (75.0)	0.914
	2	42 (16.7)	29 (16.1)	13 (18.1)	
	3	10 (4.0)	7 (3.9)	3 (4.2)	
	4	5 (2.0)	3 (1.7)	2 (2.8)	
Monthly household income (%)	< 3000 yuan	125 (49.6)	82 (45.6)	43 (59.7)	0.125
	3000-5000 yuan	85 (33.7)	66 (36.7)	19 (26.4)	
	> 5000 yuan	42 (16.7)	32 (17.8)	10 (13.9)	
Number of stents placed, mean (SD)		1.47 (0.91)	1.40 (0.89)	1.64 (0.94)	0.059
Number of coronary artery lesions, mean (SD)		1.89 (0.79)	1.83 (0.79)	2.03 (0.79)	0.078
Combined with hypertension (%)	No	114 (45.2)	88 (48.9)	26 (36.1)	0.066
	Yes	138 (54.8)	92 (51.1)	46 (63.9)	
Combined with cerebral infarction (%)	No	227 (90.1)	166 (92.2)	61 (84.7)	0.072
	Yes	25 (9.9)	14 (7.8)	11 (15.3)	
Combined with hyperlipidemia (%)	No	214 (84.9)	156 (86.7)	58 (80.6)	0.221
	Yes	38 (15.1)	24 (13.3)	14 (19.4)	
Diabetes mellitus (%)	No	164 (65.1)	121 (67.2)	43 (59.7)	0.259
	Yes	88 (34.9)	59 (32.8)	29 (40.3)	
Combined with renal insufficiency (%)	No	227 (90.1)	162 (90.0)	65 (90.3)	0.947
	Yes	25 (9.9)	18 (10.0)	7 (9.7)	
Combined digestive system diseases (%)	No	217 (86.1)	155 (86.1)	62 (86.1)	1
	Yes	35 (13.9)	25 (13.9)	10 (13.9)	
Timi classification (%)	0	136 (54.0)	100 (55.6)	36 (50.0)	0.491
	1	15 (6.0)	11 (6.1)	4 (5.6)	
	2	27 (10.7)	21 (11.7)	6 (8.3)	
	3	74 (29.4)	48 (26.7)	26 (36.1)	
Payment method (%)	Self-paid	17 (6.7)	11 (6.1)	6 (8.3)	0.525
	Medical insurance reimbursement	235 (93.3)	169 (93.9)	66 (91.7)	
History of acute myocardial infarction (%)	No	242 (96.0)	175 (97.2)	67 (93.1)	0.126
	Yes	10 (4.0)	5 (2.8)	5 (6.9)	
Time of onset (%)	Daytime	110 (43.7)	73 (40.6)	37 (51.4)	0.117
	Nighttime	142 (56.3)	107 (59.4)	35 (48.6)	
Living alone (%)	No	227 (90.1)	162 (90.0)	65 (90.3)	0.947
	Yes	25 (9.9)	18 (10.0)	7 (9.7)	
Type of residence (%)	Rural	94 (37.3)	67 (37.2)	27 (37.5)	0.967
	Town	158 (62.7)	113 (62.8)	45 (62.5)	
Regular jobs (%)	No	170 (67.5)	120 (66.7)	50 (69.4)	0.671
Regular Jobs (76)	Yes	82 (32.5)	60 (33.3)	22 (30.6)	



#### Cao JY et al. Nomogram for PHD in AMI patients

History of heart failure (%)	No	227 (90.1)	165 (91.7)	62 (86.1)	0.183
	Yes	25 (9.9)	15 ( 8.3)	10 (13.9)	
Education level (%)	Junior high school and below	153 (60.7)	108 (60.0)	45 (62.5)	0.321
	Senior high school	45 (17.9)	36 (20.0)	9 (12.5)	
	University and above	54 (21.4)	36 (20.0)	18 (25.0)	
Marriage (%)	Married	228 (90.5)	165 (91.7)	63 (87.5)	0.114
	Divorce or widow	20 (7.9)	11 ( 6.1)	9 (12.5)	
	Unmarried	4 (1.6)	4 (2.2)	0 (0.0)	
Drinking (%)	No	177 (70.2)	125 (69.4)	52 (72.2)	0.663
	Yes	75 (29.8)	55 (30.6)	20 (27.8)	
Smoking (%)	No	133 (52.8)	93 (51.7)	40 (55.6)	0.576
	Yes	119 (47.2)	87 (48.3)	32 (44.4)	
Body mass index, mean (SD)		24.46 (3.35)	24.54 (3.37)	24.25 (3.33)	0.526
Combined with atrial fibrillation (%)	No	236 (93.7)	169 (93.9)	67 (93.1)	0.806
	Yes	16 (6.3)	11 (6.1)	5 (6.9)	



Figure 1 The nomogram prediction model for the risk of pre-hospital delay. Each indicator in the nomogram corresponds to a specific vertical line that ascends from the respective score on the horizontal axis labeled "Points." Along each indicator's line, a specific score is assigned based on the patient's characteristics. Four specific scores from different indicators are added together to calculate the total score. The total score is located on the horizontal axis labeled "Total Points." A vertical line is drawn downward from the total score to intersect with the axis labeled "Risk of Pre-hospital Delay." The value corresponding to the intersection point indicates the estimated risk of pre-hospital delay for the patient.

#### depicted in Figure 3.

#### Clinical applicability of the nomogram model

The clinical applicability of the nomogram model was assessed using the DCA curve. The DCA curve analysis indicated that the nomogram model achieved the highest clinical net rate when the threshold probability of PHD in the development group ranged from 0.09 to 0.68 and that in the validation group ranged from 0.16 to 0.59. This performance surpassed both "full intervention" and "no intervention" schemes, affirming the favorable clinical applicability of the nomogram model, as shown in Figure 4.

Raishideng® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

#### Table 2 Results of univariate and multivariate Logistic regression analysis on risk of pre-hospital delay in development group

Verieklee	Univariate logistic reg	Multivariate logistic regression		
Variables	OR (95%CI)	P value	OR (95%CI)	P value
BMI	0.956 (0.867, 1.050)	0.35		
Killip Grade 1	Reference			
Killip Grade 2	1.061 (0.429, 2.464)	0.894		
Killip Grade 3	3.143 (0.666, 16.536)	0.145		
Killip Grade 4	4.714 (0.440, 103.073)	0.211		
Fimi Grade 0	Reference			
fimi Grade 1	1.855 (0.501, 6.615)	0.337		
îimi Grade 2	0.890 (0.294, 2.420)	0.826		
Fimi Grade 3	1.012 (0.474, 2.109)	0.975		
iving alone	3.059 (1.138, 8.476)	0.027	4.654 (1.386, 16.957)	0.015
Daytime onset	Reference			
Jighttime onset	2.831 (1.434, 5.853)	0.004	2.200 (0.968, 5.188)	0.064
Combined with atrial fibrillation	1.875 (0.520, 6.497)	0.317		
Combined with hypertension	2.862 (1.493, 5.649)	0.002	1.990 (0.906, 4.473)	0.089
Combined with hyperlipidemia	2.467 (1.024, 5.957)	0.042	3.151 (1.095, 9.373)	0.035
Have a regular job	0.791 (0.395, 1.541)	0.497		
Jumber of diseased coronary artery	1.109 (0.743, 1.656)	0.61		
Aarital status: married	Reference			
Marriage: Divorced or widowed	0.792 (0.168, 2.864)	0.739		
Aarriage: Unmarried	0.704 (0.034, 5.648)	0.764		
Prior history of AMI	3.361 (0.542, 26.068)	0.191		
amily monthly income < 3000 yuan	Reference			
The monthly income of the family = 3000-5000 yuan	0.922 (0.449, 1.872)	0.822		
Family monthly income > 5000 yuan	1.560 (0.660, 3.636)	0.304		
ype of residence: town	0.387 (0.201, 0.737)	0.004	0.576 (0.258, 1.281)	0.175
Complicated with cerebral infarction	1.691 (0.533, 5.112)	0.353		
Age	1.043 (1.020, 1.069)	< 0.001	1.034 (1.004, 1.065)	0.027
Complicated with renal insufficiency	1.845 (0.668, 4.959)	0.225		
Complicated with diabetes	3.211 (1.662, 6.278)	0.001	3.208 (1.466, 7.228)	0.004
Education level is junior high school or below	Reference			
ligh school education	1.669 (0.766, 3.610)	0.193		
Education level is university or above	0.417 (0.146, 1.035)	0.076		
moking	0.404 (0.207, 0.771)	0.007	0.682 (0.279, 1.652)	0.395
Complicated with digestive system diseases	2.733 (1.154, 6.533)	0.022	3.937 (1.433, 11.236)	0.009
Complicated with heart failure	1.490 (0.478, 4.355)	0.471		
Female sex	2.737 (1.309, 5.753)	0.007	1.419 (0.531, 3.776)	0.482
Drinking	0.841 (0.413, 1.659)	0.622		
Payment method: medical insurance reimbursement	1.252 (0.347, 5.886)	0.747		
Number of stents placed	1.300 (0.916, 1.856)	0.142		



Brishideng® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

AMI: Acute myocardial infarction; BMI: Body mass index; OR: Odds ratio.



Figure 2 Receiver operating characteristic curve analysis of the nomogram model. The figure displays the receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve analysis of the developed nomogram model. The area under the ROC curve (AUC) is used as a measure of the model's discriminatory ability. The false positive rate is plotted on the x-axis, while the true positive rate is plotted on the y-axis. The AUC values indicate the accuracy of the model in distinguishing between individuals who experienced pre-hospital delay and those who did not. A higher AUC value suggests a better predictive performance of the model. TPR: True positive rate; FPR: False positive rate.



Figure 3 Calibration curve of the nomogram model. A and B: The figure illustrates the calibration curve analysis of the developed nomogram model in both the development group (A) and the validation group (B). The calibration curve assesses the agreement between the predicted and observed probabilities of prehospital delay likelihood. The x-axis represents the predicted probabilities, while the y-axis represents the observed probabilities. The goodness-of-fit is evaluated to determine the accuracy of the model. A well-calibrated model would show a close alignment of the predicted probabilities with the observed probabilities along the 45degree diagonal line. GOF: Goodness-of-fit.

#### DISCUSSION

AMI represents a common emergency with high morbidity and mortality, particularly affecting a younger demographic, posing a substantial threat to patients' lives [8]. Studies have underscored the significance of recanalization in restoring cardiovascular supply, enhancing cardiac oxygen delivery, and improving patient prognosis[9]. However, the success of reperfusion therapy is contingent upon its timeliness; the earlier the patient reaches the hospital, the better the treatment outcomes[10]. Despite the recognized importance of prompt intervention, delays in treatment time, including PHD and in-hospital delay, contribute to a significant proportion of cases where myocardial infarction patients fail to receive timely treatment[11]. Currently, 30%-40% of patients with AMI experience PHD, presenting a challenge due to numerous

Zaishidena® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 4 Decision curve analysis curve of the nomogram model. A and B: The figure presents the decision curve analysis (DCA) curve of the developed nomogram model in both the development group (A) and the validation group (B). The DCA curve measures the net benefit of the model by plotting the threshold probability on the x-axis against the net benefit on the y-axis. The net benefit is calculated by weighting the true-positive and false-positive classifications based on the clinical consequence of each classification. The DCA curve assesses the clinical usefulness of the nomogram model by comparing it to the strategies of treating all or no patients with the condition of interest. A higher net benefit value indicates a better clinical utility of the model.

interference factors that impede the development of a unified and efficient treatment process[12,13]. To address this challenge and reduce the time interval from symptom onset to percutaneous coronary intervention, it is imperative to identify individuals at high risk before discharge and administer specific interventions to enhance the efficacy of treatment for myocardial infarction. In the present study, potential risk factors influencing the occurrence of post-hospital discharge were identified through univariate analysis and subsequently adjusted using multivariate logistic regression analysis. Consequently, five distinct risk factors were identified as independent predictors of PHD in patients with AMI: advanced age, living alone, comorbidity with digestive system diseases, comorbidity with hyperlipidemia, and comorbidity with diabetes.

This study has provided evidence supporting the role of age as an independent determinant of PHD in patients with AMI, aligning with findings reported by Ouellet *et al*[14]. Atypical symptoms in the elderly were identified as a significant cause of PHD[15]. Older patients, often burdened with comorbidities such as hypertension, diabetes, and cerebrovascular disease, may present with atypical symptoms and symptoms of pre-infarction angina pectoris, contributing to a misperception of a general mild disease. Additionally, traditional ideas influencing the elderly's choice to be sent to the hospital by their children can lead to delays in medical treatment. This hesitation, especially prevalent in cases where children are not around to assist, may result in the use of self-administered oral drugs or waiting for symptoms to naturally disappear, further increasing the risk of PHD with serious consequences[16]. The study substantiates the association between living alone and an elevated risk of PHD, establishing it as an independent risk factor.

The challenges posed by China's burgeoning aging population, marked by a rising number of elderly individuals residing alone and empty nesters, necessitate innovative approaches to address healthcare concerns, particularly in cases of acute and severe illnesses[17,18]. For patients living alone, the potential delay in medical treatment due to the inability to take necessary self-help measures, especially in cases affecting their activities, poses a serious risk, with potential life-threatening consequences. In this context, the study highlights the potential utility of remote monitoring systems, such as smart watches and bracelets, to control the health of elderly individuals living alone in real-time. This technological intervention holds promise in effectively reducing the risk of PHD in patients living alone, thereby enhancing timely medical intervention and improving outcomes.

The study also brings attention to the significant impact of co-occurring digestive system diseases as an autonomous risk factor for PHD in patients with AMI. Diseases like chronic gastritis and gastrointestinal ulcers are identified for their potential to cause pain and mask symptoms of myocardial infarction[19], leading to missed treatment opportunities. To address this, the study advocates for tailored AMI health education for patients with digestive system diseases, particularly ulcer diseases. Concrete measures proposed include the preparation of a basic knowledge manual about heart disease, emphasizing causes, symptoms, and preventive measures. Additionally, the involvement of medical staff for inhome health talks, encouraging participation in mutual support groups, and imparting knowledge on developing good daily habits are suggested strategies to empower the elderly living alone with digestive system diseases to better understand and cope with heart disease.

Furthermore, the study substantiates a positive association between hyperlipidemia and the susceptibility to PHD among patients with AMI. This finding aligns with a cross-sectional investigation on PHD in patients with AMI in Saudi Arabia, as reported by Alahmadi *et al*[20]. Hyperlipidemia, a common cause of AMI, is elucidated as a contributor to atherosclerosis, leading to the formation of lipid plaques on arterial walls. The instability of these plaques can result in

rupture and thrombus formation, culminating in the occurrence of AMI. The study underscores the multifaceted impact of hyperlipidemia on vascular function, inducing endothelial cell injury and inflammatory reactions, ultimately affecting the occurrence and prognosis of AMI and increasing the risk of PHD. Previous studies [21-23] have highlighted prolonged PDT in patients with AMI with diabetes, aligning with the current study's findings indicating that diabetes can increase the risk of PHD in patients with AMI. The study by Ängerud et al[24] emphasized a significantly longer median PDT in diabetic patients compared to non-diabetic patients (75 min), suggesting the need for targeted strategies to address the unique challenges faced by this subgroup. Additionally, the study in China proposed that the atypical presentation of chest pain symptoms in diabetic patients, with a higher proportion of NSTEMI patients, contributes to the PHD risk in this population[25].

The cumulative evidence from this study highlights the necessity for comprehensive strategies addressing the diverse risk factors influencing PHD in patients with AMI, including technological interventions, tailored education programs, and targeted management approaches for specific comorbidities. The integration of clinical prediction models into medical practice, particularly nomograms, has become pivotal in risk and benefit assessments, providing a more objective and precise means of information acquisition [26,27]. Within cardiovascular research, nomograms have proven effective in predicting various outcomes, ranging from in-hospital mortality to the risk of specific complications post-diagnosis[28-31]. Despite these advancements, there exists a notable gap in literature pertaining to nomogram studies specifically examining the risk of post-hospital discharge in patients with AMI. Addressing this void, our study utilized univariate and multivariate Logistic regression to identify independent risk factors for PHD in patients with AMI, culminating in the development of a nomogram model tailored to predict this risk. Notably, our findings underscore the nomogram model's favorable calibration, discrimination, and clinical applicability, as evidenced by the Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness of fit test, ROC curve analysis, and DCA curve.

The nomogram model developed in this study fills a crucial gap in predicting the risk of PHD in patients with AMI, providing a valuable tool for rapid risk assessment and more targeted treatment strategies. By identifying high-risk patients, the nomogram facilitates swift and effective intervention, ultimately enhancing patient prognosis.

However, it is imperative to acknowledge certain limitations inherent in this study. The retrospective nature of the research introduces potential issues such as incomplete data, low data quality, and case selection bias, which may impact result accuracy. Additionally, the study's reliance on data from a single medical institution raises concerns about its representativeness for broader populations. The limited sample size and consideration of only a subset of predictors further necessitate caution in generalizing the results. Future endeavors should prioritize large-scale, multi-center, and multi-regional studies to enhance result representativeness and generalizability.

#### CONCLUSION

In conclusion, this study, despite its limitations, successfully identified five independent risk factors associated with PHD in patients with AMI. The subsequent construction of a nomogram model exhibited robust predictive value, offering valuable insights for pre-hospital treatment strategies in patients with AMI and mitigating the risk of PHD. The results emphasize the significance of incorporating nomograms into clinical practice for enhanced risk assessment and tailored interventions in the context of AMI.

## **ARTICLE HIGHLIGHTS**

#### Research background

Acute myocardial infarction (AMI), a lethal heart condition, results from coronary artery blockages that cause myocardial ischemia and necrosis. Treatment delays heighten death risks, making prompt medical response critical. This study focuses on reducing pre-hospital delays by identifying high-risk AMI patients, developing a risk prediction model, and implementing tailored strategies for timely care.

#### Research motivation

The timely management of AMI is crucial for improving patient outcomes, yet pre-hospital delay time (PDT) poses a significant challenge, leading to increased morbidity and mortality rates. This research is motivated by the need to understand the determinants of PDT in AMI patients and develop a robust risk prediction model. By identifying highrisk individuals and implementing targeted strategies to reduce PDT, this study aims to enhance the delivery of prompt and effective care. Its significance lies in addressing a critical knowledge gap in cardiovascular medicine and offering practical solutions to optimize AMI treatment outcomes for future research in this field.

#### Research objectives

The main objective is to investigate determinants of pre-hospital delay (PHD) in AMI patients and construct a risk prediction model. Realizing these objectives has significant implications for future research in this field, allowing refinement of models, development of evidence-based guidelines, and optimization of AMI treatment strategies for improved patient outcomes.

WJC https://www.wjgnet.com

#### Research methods

This retrospective cohort study investigated determinants of PHD in AMI patients and developed a risk prediction model. Data on 26 indicators were collected from AMI patients admitted to a tertiary hospital in Anhui Province, China. Statistical analysis involved logistic regression, nomogram modeling, receiver operating characteristic curve analysis, calibration tests, and decision curve analysis. The study contributes to advancing AMI management research.

#### Research results

This study identified risk factors for post-hospital discharge in acute myocardial infarction patients. Living alone, hyperlipidemia, age, diabetes, and digestive system diseases were significant predictors. A nomogram model accurately predicted the risk of post-hospital discharge. This model can help healthcare professionals identify high-risk patients and provide targeted interventions, but further validation is needed in larger populations.

#### Research conclusions

This study concludes that the newly developed nomogram model, incorporating independent risk factors, accurately predicts the likelihood of post-hospital discharge in acute myocardial infarction patients. This model offers a valuable tool for efficiently identifying individuals at risk of post-hospital discharge, providing potential benefits for targeted interventions and improved patient outcomes in clinical practice.

#### Research perspectives

Future research should address limitations of the retrospective design, limited sample size, and subset of predictors. Large-scale, multi-center studies with comprehensive data are needed to enhance generalizability. Exploring additional risk factors and refining predictive models can improve accuracy for forecasting post-hospital discharge outcomes in acute myocardial infarction patients, benefiting clinical decision-making.

### FOOTNOTES

Co-first authors: Jiao-Yu Cao and Li-Xiang Zhang.

Author contributions: Cao JY and Zhang LX contributed equally to this work; Cao JY and Zhou XJ designed the research study; Cao JY and Zhang LX performed the research; Zhang LX contributed analytic tools; Cao JY and Zhang LX analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript; All authors have read and approve the final manuscript.

Institutional review board statement: This study obtained ethical approval from the Medical Ethics Committee of the First Affiliated Hospital of the University of Science and Technology of China, under the approval ID: 2023-RE-124.

Informed consent statement: Due to the retrospective nature of the study, the necessity for informed consent from the study participants was exempted by the Medical Ethics Committee of the First Affiliated Hospital of the University of Science and Technology of China.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** All authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

Data sharing statement: No additional data are available.

STROBE statement: The authors have read the STROBE Statement – checklist of items, and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the STROBE Statement - checklist of items.

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

Country/Territory of origin: China

ORCID number: Jiao-Yu Cao 0009-0004-1503-3005.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: A P-Editor: Zhao S

#### REFERENCES

- Beaudoin FL, Straube S, Lopez J, Mello MJ, Baird J. Prescription opioid misuse among ED patients discharged with opioids. Am J Emerg 1 Med 2014; 32: 580-585 [PMID: 24726759 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajem.2014.02.030]
- 2 Xu WH, Liu XM. Influencing factors and coping strategies of prehospital delay in patients with acute myocardial infarction. Cardio-



cerebrovascular Disease Prevention and Treatment 2022; 22: 79-83 [DOI: 10.3969/j.issn.1009-816x.2022.05.020]

- Du LF, Lian HW, Ma QB. Distribution of delay time of emergency percutaneous coronary intervention in the patients with ST-segment 3 elevation myocardial infarction. Chinese J Emerg Med 2016; 36: 146-149 [DOI: 10.3969/j.issn.1002-1949.2016.02.010]
- Fu R, Song CX, Dou KF, Yang JG, Xu HY, Gao XJ, Liu QQ, Xu H, Yang YJ. Differences in symptoms and pre-hospital delay among acute 4 myocardial infarction patients according to ST-segment elevation on electrocardiogram: an analysis of China Acute Myocardial Infarction (CAMI) registry. Chin Med J (Engl) 2019; 132: 519-524 [PMID: 30807351 DOI: 10.1097/CM9.00000000000122]
- Imamura T. Optimal risk stratification and therapeutic strategy for acute myocardial infarction. Clin Cardiol 2021; 44: 737 [PMID: 34013995 5 DOI: 10.1002/clc.23645]
- Gebhard CE, Gebhard C, Maafi F, Bertrand MJ, Stähli BE, Maredziak M, Bengs S, Haider A, Zhang ZW, Smith DC, Ly HQ. Impact of 6 summer season on pre-hospital time delays in women and men undergoing primary percutaneous coronary intervention. Sci Total Environ 2019; 656: 322-330 [PMID: 30513423 DOI: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.11.363]
- 7 Fang XY, Albarqouni L, von Eisenhart Rothe AF, Hoschar S, Ronel J, Ladwig KH. Is denial a maladaptive coping mechanism which prolongs pre-hospital delay in patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction? J Psychosom Res 2016; 91: 68-74 [PMID: 27894465 DOI: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2016.10.008]
- Wang HJ, Dou KF. Consensus of China experts on the evaluation index system of medical quality in adults with acute ST-segment elevation 8 myocardial infarction. Zhonghua Xin Xue Guan Bing Za Zhi 2018; 46: 849-856 [DOI: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.0253-3758.2018.11.007]
- Chen GY, Li KL, Tan JM. Clinical study of recombinant human pro-urokinase for injection in the treatment of acute ST-segment elevation 9 myocardial infarction. Medical Innovation of China 2017; 14: 130-132 [DOI: 10.3969/j.issn.1674-4985.2017.33.037]
- 10 Tarantini G, Van de Werf F, Bilato C, Gersh B. Primary percutaneous coronary intervention for acute myocardial infarction: Is it worth the wait? The risk-time relationship and the need to quantify the impact of delay. Am Heart J 2011; 161: 247-253 [PMID: 21315205 DOI: 10.1016/j.ahj.2010.11.003
- Tang YF, Wang XH, Zhang P, Cao X, Yang HH. Risk factors and assessment tools for delay in seeking medical care in patients with acute 11 coronary syndrome. PLA Journal of Nursing 2015; 32: 25-28 [DOI: 10.3969/j.issn.1008-9993.2015.14.007]
- Guo JJ, Qin LJ, Zang ST, Ren Y. Research progress on influencing factors and intervention measures of prehospital delay in patients with 12 acute myocardial infarction. Chinese J Emerg Med 2020; 29: 1498-1502 [DOI: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.1671-0282.2020.11.025]
- Xia F, Ding N, Miao ZL, Yang D, Han Y. Effect of prehospital delay on cardiac function in patients with acute anterior myocardial infarction 13 undergoing emergency percutaneous coronary intervention. The Journal of Practical Medicine 2021; 37: 1824-1826 [DOI: 10.3969/j.issn.1006-5725.2021.14.010]
- Ouellet GM, Geda M, Murphy TE, Tsang S, Tinetti ME, Chaudhry SI. Prehospital Delay in Older Adults with Acute Myocardial Infarction: 14 The ComprehenSIVe Evaluation of Risk Factors in Older Patients with Acute Myocardial Infarction Study. J Am Geriatr Soc 2017; 65: 2391-2396 [PMID: 29044463 DOI: 10.1111/jgs.15102]
- Lee SH, Kim HK, Jeong MH, Lee JM, Gwon HC, Chae SC, Seong IW, Park JS, Chae JK, Hur SH, Cha KS, Kim HS, Seung KB, Rha SW, 15 Ahn TH, Kim CJ, Hwang JY, Choi DJ, Yoon J, Joo SJ, Hwang KK, Kim DI, Oh SK; KAMIR Investigators. Pre-hospital delay and emergency medical services in acute myocardial infarction. Korean J Intern Med 2020; 35: 119-132 [PMID: 31766823 DOI: 10.3904/kjim.2019.123]
- Liu DX, Gao P, Duan YW, Wang YQ, Yin NN, Han YP. Analysis of influencing factors of delay in hospitalization in patients with acute ST 16 segment elevation myocardial infarction. Hebei Pharmaceutical 2021; 43: 264-266 [DOI: 10.3969/j.issn.1002-7386.2021.02.024]
- Xiang YB, Yin LX, Zuo ML, Shuai P, Zou JL. Effects of living alone and co-living on cardiovascular disease indexes in 829 elderly people 17 aged 60 years and over in Sichuan Province. Occupational Health and Injury 2019; 34: 70-74
- Wu HX, Ye Q. Causative analysis and nursing strategy of pre-hospital delayed treatment in elderly patients with acute myocardial infarction. 18 General Nursing 2017; 15: 2113-2115 [DOI: 10.3969/j.issn.1674-4748.2017.17.029]
- Yan WJ. Misdiagnosis of acute myocardial infarction with atypical initial symptoms. Clinical Misdiagnosis & Mistherapy 2017; 30: 28-32 19 [DOI: 10.3969/j.issn.1002-3429.2017.02.009]
- 20 Alahmadi AF, ALSaedi MF, Alahmadi AE, Alharbi MG, Alharbi IH, Radman Al-Dubai SA. Pre-hospital delay among patients with acute myocardial infarction in Saudi Arabia. A cross-sectional study. Saudi Med J 2020; 41: 819-827 [PMID: 32789422 DOI: 10.15537/smj.2020.8.25185
- Wah W, Pek PP, Ho AF, Fook-Chong S, Zheng H, Loy EY, Chua TS, Koh TH, Chow KY, Earnest A, Pang J, Ong ME. Symptom-to-door 21 delay among patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction in Singapore. Emerg Med Australas 2017; 29: 24-32 [PMID: 27728959 DOI: 10.1111/1742-6723.12689]
- 22 Peng YG, Feng JJ, Guo LF, Li N, Liu WH, Li GJ, Hao G, Zu XL. Factors associated with prehospital delay in patients with ST-segment elevation acute myocardial infarction in China. Am J Emerg Med 2014; 32: 349-355 [PMID: 24512889 DOI: 10.1016/j.ajem.2013.12.053]
- Li PW, Yu DS. Predictors of pre-hospital delay in Hong Kong Chinese patients with acute myocardial infarction. Eur J Cardiovasc Nurs 2018; 23 17: 75-84 [PMID: 28657336 DOI: 10.1177/1474515117718914]
- Ängerud KH, Thylén I, Sederholm Lawesson S, Eliasson M, Näslund U, Brulin C; SymTime Study Group. Symptoms and delay times during 24 myocardial infarction in 694 patients with and without diabetes; an explorative cross-sectional study. BMC Cardiovasc Disord 2016; 16: 108 [PMID: 27386934 DOI: 10.1186/s12872-016-0282-7]
- Fu R, Li SD, Song CX, Yang JA, Xu HY, Gao XJ, Xu Y, Zeng JP, Li JN, Dou KF, Yang YJ. Clinical significance of diabetes on symptom and 25 patient delay among patients with acute myocardial infarction-an analysis from China Acute Myocardial Infarction (CAMI) registry. J Geriatr Cardiol 2019; 16: 395-400 [PMID: 31217792 DOI: 10.11909/j.issn.1671-5411.2019.05.002]
- Kurman RJ, Shih IeM. Pathogenesis of ovarian cancer: lessons from morphology and molecular biology and their clinical implications. Int J 26 *Gynecol Pathol* 2008; 27: 151-160 [PMID: 18317228 DOI: 10.1097/PGP.0b013e318161e4f5]
- 27 Pan X, Yang W, Chen Y, Tong L, Li C, Li H. Nomogram for predicting the overall survival of patients with inflammatory breast cancer: A SEER-based study. Breast 2019; 47: 56-61 [PMID: 31351202 DOI: 10.1016/j.breast.2019.05.015]
- Jia J, Tao SM. Risk prediction model of in-hospital mortality in critically ill patients with acute ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction 28 based on plasma osmolality. Journal of Kunming Medical University 2022; 43: 58-65 [DOI: 10.12259/j.issn.2095-610X.S20221212]
- 29 Zhou CL, Jin XY, Zhao J, Ning HG, Zhang XM, Ren C, Liu LM, Zhou LH, Liu LN. Study on nomogram prediction model of heart failure after PCI in patients with acute myocardial infarction. Journal of Cardiovascular Rehabilitation Medicine 2022; 31: 586-590 [DOI: 10.3969/j.issn.1008-0074.2022.05.12]
- Wei RJ. Construction of risk prediction model for malignant ventricular rhythm in early acute myocardial infarction. Guilin Medical College 30 2022: 12-15



Zhang BB, He T, Wu N, Ren YQ, Zhang JY, Jiang WJ, Li BG. Risk factors of new onset atrial fibrillation in patients with acute myocardial 31 infarction and construction of nomogram model for risk prediction. Journal of Practical Cardio-cerebral-pulmonary Vascular Diseases 2021; **29**: 14-18 [DOI: 10.12114/j.issn.1008-5971.2021.00.232]



WJC

# World Journal of *Cardiology*

Submit a Manuscript: https://www.f6publishing.com

World J Cardiol 2024 February 26; 16(2): 92-97

DOI: 10.4330/wjc.v16.i2.92

ISSN 1949-8462 (online)

CASE REPORT

# Spontaneous coronary artery rupture after lung cancer surgery: A case report and review of literature

Ying-Ding Ruan, Jian-Wei Han

#### Specialty type: Surgery

Provenance and peer review: Unsolicited article; Externally peer reviewed.

Peer-review model: Single blind

#### Peer-review report's scientific quality classification

Grade A (Excellent): 0 Grade B (Very good): 0 Grade C (Good): C Grade D (Fair): 0 Grade E (Poor): 0

P-Reviewer: El-Serafy AS, Egypt

Received: October 19, 2023 Peer-review started: October 19, 2023

First decision: January 6, 2024 Revised: January 11, 2024 Accepted: February 1, 2024 Article in press: February 1, 2024 Published online: February 26, 2024



Ying-Ding Ruan, Jian-Wei Han, Department of Thoracic Surgery, The First People's Hospital of Jiande, Jiande 311600, Zhejiang Province, China

**Corresponding author:** Jian-Wei Han, MM, Chief Doctor, Surgeon, Department of Thoracic Surgery, The First People's Hospital of Jiande, No. 599 Yanzhou Street, Jiande 311600, Zhejiang Province, China. hihjw@163.com

# Abstract

#### BACKGROUND

Spontaneous coronary artery rupture (SCAR) is a rare and life-threatening complication after lung cancer surgery. We present a case of SCAR following left upper lobectomy, successfully managed through emergency thoracotomy and coronary artery ligation.

#### CASE SUMMARY

A 61-year-old male patient underwent left upper lobectomy and mediastinal lymph node dissection for lung cancer. The surgery was performed using singleport video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery, and there were no observed complications during the procedure. However, 19 h after surgery, the patient experienced chest discomfort and subsequently developed severe symptoms, including nausea, vomiting, and a drop in blood pressure. Urgent measures were taken, leading to the diagnosis of SCAR. The patient underwent emergency thoracotomy and coronary artery ligation, successfully stopping the bleeding and stabilizing the condition. Despite postoperative complications, the patient made a successful recovery and was discharged from the hospital.

#### CONCLUSION

SCAR is a rare but life-threatening complication following lung cancer surgery. Immediate thoracotomy has been shown to be a life-saving measure, while stenting is not the preferred initial approach.

Key Words: Spontaneous coronary artery rupture; Lung cancer; Surgery; Case report

©The Author(s) 2024. Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc. All rights reserved.

Zaishidena® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

**Core Tip:** Spontaneous coronary artery rupture (SCAR) is a rare but life-threatening complication that may arise following lung cancer surgery. Close monitoring of patients for acute chest pain after resection is paramount. Rapid evaluation, timely intervention, and thorough examinations are critical in attaining favorable treatment outcomes. In cases where SCAR is suspected, immediate thoracotomy should be considered as an emergency life-saving procedure, while stent implantation is not the preferred initial approach. Maintaining awareness of SCAR as a potential complication and taking prompt action by thoracic surgeons can significantly enhance patient survival and facilitate recovery.

**Citation:** Ruan YD, Han JW. Spontaneous coronary artery rupture after lung cancer surgery: A case report and review of literature. *World J Cardiol* 2024; 16(2): 92-97

**URL:** https://www.wjgnet.com/1949-8462/full/v16/i2/92.htm **DOI:** https://dx.doi.org/10.4330/wjc.v16.i2.92

#### INTRODUCTION

Coronary artery rupture (CAR) has various causes, including atherosclerosis, aneurysm, trauma, infection, and vascular anomalies[1-11]. Spontaneous CAR (SCAR) denotes unexplained CAR, with unclear etiology and pathology[12]. Consequently, SCAR has limited literature coverage[8,13-22]. Only two reports discuss coronary bleeding after pulmonary surgery[18,22]. One case involved a 68-year-old man with left circumflex coronary artery bleeding on postoperative day 4, managed successfully through left thoracotomy[22]. The other concerned a 58-year-old man experiencing SCAR 3 mo after surgery; emergency thoracotomy revealed a ruptured left coronary artery ramus branch, and the patient succumbed to it[18].

No reports have documented survival after SCAR within 24 h of lung cancer surgery. This study presents the first such case: A patient with significant pericardial effusion and cardiogenic shock who underwent emergent left thoracotomy, proximal left anterior descending branch ligation, and suturing. As a result, the patient successfully recovered and was discharged without complications.

#### **CASE PRESENTATION**

#### Chief complaints

A 61-year-old Chinese man presented to the thoracic surgery clinic with left-sided chest pain lasting 1 mo.

#### History of present illness

The patient has had intermittent left-sided chest pain for 1 mo. A nodule was found in the upper lobe of the left lung during the thoracic surgery clinic evaluation, suggesting a possible tumor.

#### History of past illness

The patient denied any surgeries or comorbidities.

#### Personal and family history

The patient denied any family history of malignant tumors.

#### Physical examination

On physical examination, the vital signs were as follows: Body temperature, 36.4°C; blood pressure, 135/94 mmHg; heart rate, 79 beats/min; respiratory rate, 20 breaths/min. The patient has no palpable lymph nodes in the neck and supraclavicular region. The chest wall appeared normal, without tenderness. The breath sounds in both lungs were clear, and the heartbeat was regular without any audible murmurs. The patient had normal limb mobility. Digital anal examination was not performed.

#### Laboratory examinations

Blood chemistry, cardiac enzymes, tumor markers were normal.

#### Imaging examinations

Computed tomography (CT) revealed a 25.4 mm × 19 mm solid nodule in the left lung apex. Electrocardiography (ECG) and 24-h Holter monitoring were normal. Echocardiography found 69.7% left ventricular ejection fraction and no other issues (Figure 1).

Raisbidena® WJC https://www.wjgnet.com

Ruan YD et al. Spontaneous coronary artery rupture after lung cancer surgery



Figure 1 Imaging of pulmonary masses. A: Chest computed tomography (CT); B: Chest CT angiography revealed 50 HU.

#### FINAL DIAGNOSIS

Based on the patient's medical history, the primary diagnosis was malignant lung tumor (adenocarcinoma, sT1bN0M0/ IA2). Additionally, the patient was diagnosed with SCAR.

#### TREATMENT

On postoperative day 2, bedside echocardiography indicated no pericardial bleeding or myocardial ischemia, and coronary angiography displayed no issues (Figure 2). The patient experienced postoperative complications, including pulmonary infection, acute renal failure, and gastrointestinal infection. However, with active treatment, the patient successfully recovered and was discharged from the hospital after 10 d.

#### OUTCOME AND FOLLOW-UP

The patient is still alive and in good health.

#### DISCUSSION

SCAR is a rare life-threatening condition that involves rupture of a normal coronary artery [13]. Symptoms vary based on rupture site; some patients quickly deteriorate due to cardiac tamponade and shock, leading to sudden death[1,13-14]. SCAR occurring within 24 h of video-assisted thoracoscopic left upper lobectomy, followed by successful rescue, is rarer. Our patient recovered and resumed a normal life (Figure 3 and Video).

Cardiac tamponade after lung resection has been documented. Causes include: (1) Residual pulmonary veins retracting into pericardial space, causing intrapericardial hemorrhage[23]; (2) division of aberrant bronchial arteries during surgery, retracting proximal ends into pericardium, causing tamponade[24]; and (3) injury to the ascending aorta during right upper mediastinal lymph node dissection, possibly causing pericardial bleeding[25]. Based on the clinical presentation and relevant examination results, we primarily attributed it to SCAR for the following reasons. Firstly, there was no evidence of coronary heart disease or a family history of the condition in the preoperative examination and medical history. During surgery, we observed no pericardial defects caused by sharp instruments, electrocautery burns, erosion, or local infection. Additionally, postoperative coronary angiography revealed no abnormalities, ruling out the possibility of hemorrhage caused by ruptured atherosclerotic coronary arteries. Since no underlying causes were identified, we consider the CAR to be spontaneous.

Prior research on coronary artery bleeding shows that pressure between the sternum and spine can rapidly raise coronary artery wall pressure. Excessive pressure beyond arterial compliance might trigger rupture[26]. In this case, symptoms like nausea, vomiting, chest discomfort, and hypotension arose 19 h after surgery. Hence, we theorize that the abrupt intrathoracic pressure surge from nausea and vomiting possibly caused SCAR.

Zaishideng® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com



Figure 2 Partial views of coronary angiography were performed after hemostasis completion, and no abnormalities were observed in the coronary arteries (arrow).



Figure 3 View of the operative field. After opening, we revealed a bleeding point in the left anterior descending coronary artery (arrow).

Typical SCAR clinical features mimic acute coronary syndrome, aortic dissection, or cardiac tamponade[15,27]. Symptoms vary by rupture site. Left or distal right CAR leads to intrapericardial bleeding, causing tamponade and shock with hypotension, tachycardia, anxiety, altered consciousness, or sudden death. Proximal right CAR often results in subepicardial hematoma but not pericardial bleeding[15,28].

In this case, the patient primarily experienced acute chest pain and hypotension, which align with the acute clinical presentation of SCAR. Therefore, SCAR should be considered as a differential diagnosis for post-pulmonary resection pericardial tamponade.

Common diagnostic methods for CAR include chest X-ray, ECG, echocardiography, and cardiac enzyme profiles. Some cases exhibit abnormal ECG and positive cardiac biomarkers, but most have significant pericardial effusion[19]. Transthoracic echocardiography (TTE) and CT angiography (CTA) are key in diagnosing SCAR. TTE confirms pericardial tamponade post-pericardiocentesis, while CTA excludes aortic dissection and other cardiovascular ruptures[3,15,18]. Rapid SCAR progression and similarity to acute coronary syndrome can lead to overlooked or delayed diagnosis. Selective coronary angiography provides definitive diagnosis, but unstable patients cannot undergo the procedure. Thus, SCAR is often diagnosed during surgery.



Baishideng® WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com

Treating SCAR involves factors like bleeding site, severity, patient age and condition, and medical response plan. If angiography pinpoints rupture, stent implantation or coil embolization can manage bleeding[1,3,17,29]. However, as most SCAR patients have tamponade and shock, angiography might not work. Timely identification via TTE and chest CTA is crucial for rapid surgical intervention.

For emergency surgery, selecting the right incision matters. Urgent thoracotomy needs a left anterolateral approach; stable cases use midline sternotomy. Treatments include ligation, suturing, patch repair, and revascularization. Distal artery ruptures can be ligated, causing minor heart damage. Proximal ruptures may lead to extensive infarction and heart failure, so distal revascularization is vital[30].

If the bleeding artery is not found, pericardium or patches can cover, reinforced by medical glue[2,3,19]. Despite the grave outlook of SCAR, many recover well via emergency surgery or intervention[3]. Based on Ellis' classification[31], this SCAR could be type III, linked to 63% tamponade incidence, requiring thoracotomy, with 19% mortality. Limited data exists on coronary bleeding treatment; some cases used cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB) and cardiac arrest[1,15,19]. Successful surgery removing hematoma, resolving symptoms, absence of severe plaques or artery stenosis permits safe on-beating-heart repair, avoiding the drawbacks of CPB.

Our patient had bedside echocardiography, confirming rising pericardial effusion. Emergency left anterolateral thoracotomy within 2 h revealed the bleeding site, preventing tamponade, and saving the patient's life.

Although the patient was discharged safely and recovered his health, to date, there is a lack of large-scale research data regarding the treatment of SCAR. Therefore, it is important to determine the most appropriate medical intervention measures definitively.

#### CONCLUSION

Although SCRA is rare, it is vital for thoracic surgeons to watch for acute chest pain after lung resection. Monitoring vital signs, timely observation, and comprehensive examination aid rapid, accurate decisions. SCAR should be among postresection differential diagnosis. If SCAR arises after surgery, immediate thoracotomy boosts survival, and stenting is not preferred initially.

#### FOOTNOTES

Author contributions: Ruan YD contributed to manuscript writing and editing, and data collection and analysis; Han JW contributed to conceptualization and supervision; all authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

Informed consent statement: Informed written consent was obtained from the patient for publication of this report and any accompanying images.

**Conflict-of-interest statement:** All authors declare that they have no conflict of interest to disclose.

CARE Checklist (2016) statement: The authors have read the CARE Checklist (2016), and the manuscript was prepared and revised according to the CARE Checklist (2016).

**Open-Access:** This article is an open-access article that was selected by an in-house editor and fully peer-reviewed by external reviewers. It is distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution NonCommercial (CC BY-NC 4.0) license, which permits others to distribute, remix, adapt, build upon this work non-commercially, and license their derivative works on different terms, provided the original work is properly cited and the use is non-commercial. See: https://creativecommons.org/Licenses/by-nc/4.0/

#### Country/Territory of origin: China

**ORCID number:** Ying-Ding Ruan 0009-0007-6772-2410; Jian-Wei Han 0000-0003-0540-7689.

S-Editor: Liu JH L-Editor: A P-Editor: Zhao S

#### REFERENCES

- Butz T, Lamp B, Figura T, Faber L, Esdorn H, Wiemer M, Kleikamp G, Horstkotte D. Images in cardiovascular medicine. Pericardial effusion with beginning cardiac tamponade caused by a spontaneous coronary artery rupture. Circulation 2007; 116: e383-e384 [PMID: 17938293 DOI: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.710913
- Kaljusto ML, Koldsland S, Vengen OA, Woldback PR, Tønnessen T. Cardiac tamponade caused by acute spontaneous coronary artery 2 rupture. J Card Surg 2006; 21: 301-303 [PMID: 16684069 DOI: 10.1111/j.1540-8191.2006.00239.x]
- Motoyoshi N, Komatsu T, Moizumi Y, Tabayashi K. Spontaneous rupture of coronary artery. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2002; 22: 470-471 3 [PMID: 12204750 DOI: 10.1016/s1010-7940(02)00343-3]



- Manzo-Silberman S, Aelion H, Leprince P. Spontaneous rupture of a coronary artery. Arch Cardiovasc Dis 2014; 107: 704-705 [PMID: 4 23911832 DOI: 10.1016/j.acvd.2012.09.007]
- Gunduz H, Akdemir R, Binak E, Tamer A, Uyan C. Spontaneous rupture of a coronary artery aneurysm: a case report and review of the 5 literature. Jpn Heart J 2004; 45: 331-336 [PMID: 15090710 DOI: 10.1536/jhj.45.331]
- 6 Dueholm S, Fabrin J. Isolated coronary artery rupture following blunt chest trauma. A case report. Scand J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1986; 20: 183-184 [PMID: 3738451 DOI: 10.3109/14017438609106500]
- Fan CC, Andersen BR, Sahgal S. Isolated myocardial abscess causing coronary artery rupture and fatal hemopericardium. Arch Pathol Lab 7 Med 1994; 118: 1023-1025 [PMID: 7944886]
- Evans RH, Fraser AG. Spontaneous coronary artery rupture and cardiac tamponade in Ehlers-Danlos syndrome type IV. Int J Cardiol 1996; 8 54: 283-286 [PMID: 8818754 DOI: 10.1016/0167-5273(96)02618-6]
- Brennan K, Shurmur S, Elhendy A. Coronary artery rupture associated with amphetamine abuse. Cardiol Rev 2004; 12: 282-283 [PMID: 9 15316310 DOI: 10.1097/01.crd.0000132372.38506.45]
- 10 Oshima T, Minatsuki S, Myojo M, Kodera S, Nawata K, Ando J, Akazawa H, Watanabe M, Ono M, Komuro I. Coronary Artery Aneurysm Caused by a Stent Fracture. Int Heart J 2018; 59: 203-208 [PMID: 29375112 DOI: 10.1536/ihj.17-081]
- 11 De Giorgio F, Abbate A, Capelli A, Arena V. Spontaneous rupture of coronary artery in human immunodeficiency virus-positive patient treated with highly active anti-retroviral therapy (HAART). Am J Forensic Med Pathol 2005; 26: 197 [PMID: 15894860]
- Kar S, Webel RR. Diagnosis and treatment of spontaneous coronary artery pseudoaneurysm: Rare anomaly with potentially significant clinical 12 implications. Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2017; 90: 589-597 [PMID: 28258964 DOI: 10.1002/ccd.26997]
- 13 Moonen ML, Hanssen M, Radermecker MA, Lancellotti P. The blue man: an unusual happy end of a spontaneous rupture of a coronary artery. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2008; 34: 1265-1267 [PMID: 18848457 DOI: 10.1016/j.ejcts.2008.08.031]
- ADAMS CW, EDER G. Spontaneous rupture of the right coronary artery. Am J Cardiol 1958; 1: 765-767 [PMID: 13533300 DOI: 14 10.1016/0002-9149(58)90167-x]
- 15 Longobardi A, Iesu S, Baldi C, Di Maio M, Panza A, Mastrogiovanni G, Masiello P, Itri F, Lambiase C, Bossone E, Piscione F, Di Benedetto G. Spontaneous coronary artery rupture presenting as an acute coronary syndrome evolved in pseudoaneurysm and cardiac tamponade: Case report and literature review. Eur Heart J Acute Cardiovasc Care 2017; 6: 666-669 [PMID: 26566773 DOI: 10.1177/2048872615617043]
- Sayed AI. Case report: Spontaneous coronary artery rupture presenting with acute coronary syndrome: A rare diagnosis of common disease. 16 Front Cardiovasc Med 2022; 9: 922180 [PMID: 36035904 DOI: 10.3389/fcvm.2022.922180]
- 17 Cheng ST, Liu CJ, Huang HL, Ko YL. Rescue Coilization for Spontaneous Coronary Artery Rupture. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2021; 14: e149-e150 [PMID: 34147383 DOI: 10.1016/j.jcin.2021.04.005]
- 18 He Z, Chen G, He X. Spontaneous Coronary Artery Rupture Causing Acute Cardiac Tamponade and Cardiogenic Shock. Int Heart J 2019; 60: 1009-1012 [PMID: 31204372 DOI: 10.1536/ihj.18-432]
- 19 Shrestha BM, Hamilton-Craig C, Platts D, Clarke A. Spontaneous coronary artery rupture in a young patient: a rare diagnosis for cardiac tamponade. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2009; 9: 537-539 [PMID: 19491124 DOI: 10.1510/icvts.2009.207001]
- Fujimoto D, Takami M, Kozuki A, Shite J. A case report of unusual clinical features of a spontaneous coronary artery rupture: pathologic 20 findings in the rupture site. Eur Heart J Case Rep 2019; 3 [PMID: 31384915 DOI: 10.1093/ehjcr/ytz135]
- Liang W, Yue H, Zhang T, Wu Z. Case Report: Hematoma Formation After Spontaneous Coronary Artery Rupture. Front Cardiovasc Med 21 2021; 8: 801005 [PMID: 35087884 DOI: 10.3389/fcvm.2021.801005]
- Ozawa Y, Ichimura H, Sato T, Matsuzaki K. Cardiac tamponade due to coronary artery rupture after pulmonary resection. Ann Thorac Surg 22 2013; 96: e97-e99 [PMID: 24088502 DOI: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2013.04.111]
- Tovar EA. Pulmonary resection complicated by abrupt pericardial tamponade. Ann Thorac Surg 1995; 60: 1864 [PMID: 8787514 DOI: 23 10.1016/0003-4975(96)81290-2]
- McLean RH, Parandian BB, Nam MH. Pericardial tamponade: an unusual complication of lobectomy for lung cancer. Ann Thorac Surg 1999; 24 67: 545-546 [PMID: 10197691 DOI: 10.1016/s0003-4975(98)01245-4]
- Morimoto M, Ohashi M, Nobara H, Fukaya Y, Haniuda M, Iida F. Rupture of the ascending aorta after surgical resection for lung cancer--a 25 case report. Jpn J Surg 1991; 21: 476-479 [PMID: 1960910 DOI: 10.1007/BF02470980]
- Trotter TH, Knott-Craig CJ, Ward KE. Blunt injury rupture of tricuspid valve and right coronary artery. Ann Thorac Surg 1998; 66: 1814-26 1816 [PMID: 9875803 DOI: 10.1016/s0003-4975(98)00919-9]
- Keskin M, Bozbay M, Kayacıoğlu İ, Koçoğulları C, Bozbay AY, Hayıroğlu Mİ, Gürkan U, Eren M. Spontaneous Right Coronary Artery 27 Rupture and Acute Cardiac Tamponade in Behçet's Disease. Heart Lung Circ 2016; 25: e149-e151 [PMID: 27373728 DOI: 10.1016/j.hlc.2016.04.022
- Sevuk U, Ozyalcin S, Ayaz F, Kose K. Spontaneous coronary artery rupture without a pericardial effusion: a diagnostic challenge. BMJ Case 28 Rep 2016; 2016 [PMID: 27055462 DOI: 10.1136/bcr-2016-214424]
- Wiemer M, Horstkotte D, Schultheiss HP. [Non-surgical management of a perforated left anterior descending coronary artery following 29 cardiopulmonary resuscitation]. Z Kardiol 1999; 88: 675-680 [PMID: 10525930 DOI: 10.1007/s003920050344]
- Wall MJ Jr, Mattox KL, Chen CD, Baldwin JC. Acute management of complex cardiac injuries. J Trauma 1997; 42: 905-912 [PMID: 30 9191673 DOI: 10.1097/00005373-199705000-00022]
- Ellis SG, Ajluni S, Arnold AZ, Popma JJ, Bittl JA, Eigler NL, Cowley MJ, Raymond RE, Safian RD, Whitlow PL. Increased coronary 31 perforation in the new device era. Incidence, classification, management, and outcome. Circulation 1994; 90: 2725-2730 [PMID: 7994814 DOI: 10.1161/01.cir.90.6.2725]



WJC | https://www.wjgnet.com



# Published by Baishideng Publishing Group Inc 7041 Koll Center Parkway, Suite 160, Pleasanton, CA 94566, USA Telephone: +1-925-3991568 E-mail: office@baishideng.com Help Desk: https://www.f6publishing.com/helpdesk https://www.wjgnet.com

